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Powers and Membership

Powers and Membership

The Committee for Social Development is a Statutory Departmental Committee established 
in accordance with paragraphs 8 and 9 of the Belfast Agreement, section 29 of the 
Northern Ireland Act 1998 and under Standing Order 48.

The Committee has power to:

■■ consider and advise on Departmental budgets and annual plans in the context of the 
overall budget allocation;

■■ consider relevant secondary legislation and take the Committee stage of primary 
legislation;

■■ call for persons and papers;

■■ initiate inquires and make reports; and

■■ consider and advise on any matters brought to the Committee by the Minister for 
Social Development.

The Committee has 11 members including a Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson and a 
quorum of 5.

The membership of the Committee since 23 May 2011 has been as follows:

■■ Mr Alex Maskey (Chairperson)

■■ Mr Mickey Brady (Deputy Chairperson)

■■ Mr Jim Allister 7

■■ Mr Roy Beggs 14

■■ Ms Paula Bradley 1

■■ Mr Gregory Campbell 3

■■ vacant 8,12,13,15

■■ Mr Stewart Dickson 11

■■ Ms Dolores Kelly 10

■■ Mr Fra McCann

■■ Mr Sammy Wilson 2,4,5,6,9

1	 With effect from 20 February 2012 Ms Paula Bradley replaced Mr Gregory Campbell
2	 With effect from 26 March 2012 Mr Alastair Ross replaced Mr Sammy Douglas
3	 With effect from 01 October 2012 Mr Gregory Campbell replaced Mr Alex Easton
4	 With effect from 01 October 2012 Mr Sammy Douglas replaced Mr Alastair Ross
5	 With effect from 11 February 2013 Mr Sydney Anderson replaced Mr Sammy Douglas
6	 With effect from 07 May 2013 Mr Sammy Douglas replaced Mr Sydney Anderson
7	 With effect from 09 September 2013 Mr Jim Allister replaced Mr David McClarty
8	 With effect from 16 September 2013 Mr Trevor Clarke replaced Ms Pam Brown
9	 With effect from 16 September 2013 Mr Sammy Wilson replaced Mr Sammy Douglas
10	 With effect from 30 September 2013 Mrs Dolores Kelly replaced Mr Mark H Durkan
11	 With effect from 01 October 2013 Mr Stewart Dickson replaced Mrs Judith Cochrane
12	 With effect from 06 October 2014 Mr Sammy Douglas replaced Mr Trevor Clarke
13	 With effect from 17 November 2014 Mr Maurice Devenney replaced Mr Sammy Douglas
14	 With effect from 09 February 2015 Mr Roy Beggs replaced Mr Michael Copeland
15	 Mr Maurice Devenney resigned as an MLA on 25 March 2015
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List of Abbreviations Used in the Report

(The) Committee 	 Committee for Social Development

BBC NI 	 British Broadcasting Corporation Northern Ireland

CPD 	 Central Procurement Directorate

DFP	 Department of Finance and Personnel

DSD / The Department	 Department for Social Development

DUP	 Democratic Unionist Party

MLA	 Member of Legislative Assembly

MP	 Member of Parliament

NDPB	 Non Departmental Public Body

NIAO	 Northern Ireland Audit Office

NIHE / The Housing Executive	 Northern Ireland Housing Executive

QC	 Queen’s Counsel

RIU	 Repairs Inspection Unit of the NIHE

TUPE	� Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations

UK PAC	 UK Public Affairs Council
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Appendix 1

Level 4, Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 

Gasworks Business Park 
Ormeau Road 

Belfast BT7 2JB

Tel: 028 90829 030 
Email:Billy.Crawford@dsdni.gov.uk

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Social Development Committee Clerk Northern Ireland Assembly  
Room 412, Parliament Buildings 
Ballymiscaw, Stormont 
Belfast BT4 3XX� 23 August 2013

Dear Kevin

DSD Special Adviser – Fact-Finding Exercise

Thank you for your note of August 20th conveying the Chair’s interest in the DSD fact-finding 
exercise that has been reported in the media in recent days. Conscious that the Committee 
has announced an inquiry into this and related matters with terms of reference yet to be 
agreed, the intention was to brief the Committee at an early opportunity.

In common with other special advisers, Mr Brimstone is a temporary civil servant, appointed 
under Article 3 of the Civil Service Commissioners (Northern Ireland) Order 1999. His terms 
and conditions require performance with the high standards expected of senior civil servants 
and also specify that any disciplinary matters which were to arise in relation to him should be 
dealt with in accordance with the disciplinary procedures set out in the HR Handbook. He is 
similarly bound by the NICS Code of Ethics.

Recent allegations about the Special Adviser’s reported conduct made during a BBC Spotlight 
programme have led the Permanent Secretary to conclude the need for fact finding to be carried 
out independent of the Department. When allegations of serious misconduct have been made 
against an individual, when the individual denies the allegation and where there is a lack of hard 
evidence to underpin allegations, it is standard practice for line management to carry out a fact 
finding exercise to establish if there is any basis for proceeding with formal investigation.

In this instance the Permanent Secretary has agreed that the fact-finding interviews and 
resultant decision on whether there is a basis for proceeding with a formal investigation 
should be undertaken by someone outside the Department. To that end, Colin Lewis 
(Department of Finance and Personnel) Head of Corporate HR in the NICS, will carry out the 
fact-finding which will begin shortly. The outcome of this work will enable the Department 
to review whether formal investigation needs to be initiated taking account of the terms of 
reference for and progress on the Committee inquiry.

Terms of reference for the fact-finding exercise are appended for your information.

Yours Sincerely,

Billy Crawford
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Appendix 1

Fact Finding Exercise – Terms of Reference

In a BBC Spotlight programme broadcast on 3 July 2013, Mrs Jenny Palmer, a DUP councillor 
and NIHE board member, alleged that the DSD Special Adviser, Stephen Brimstone, pressured 
her to change her vote at a board meeting called in July 2011 to discuss the Housing 
Executive’s contract with the Red Sky maintenance company. Mrs Palmer alleged that Mr 
Brimstone said that she should change her vote because the party came first and she should 
do what she was told.

If Mr Brimstone acted as alleged by Mrs Palmer, his behaviour could be regarded as in 
breach of certain parts of the Code of Conduct for Special Advisers and the general conduct 
provisions set out in the HR Handbook.

The allegation made by Mrs Palmer in relation to Mr Brimstone’s conduct is therefore such as 
to require consideration to be given as to whether a formal disciplinary investigation should 
be carried out as a precursor to potential disciplinary proceedings. In cases where there is an 
insufficient factual basis to warrant embarking on a formal investigation, it is normal practice 
to carry out a fact-finding exercise.

In the absence of any undisputed facts, the Department is not at this point in time in a 
position to decide whether a formal disciplinary investigation is warranted.

The purpose of the fact finding exercise is therefore to establish whether there is any basis 
for proceeding with a formal disciplinary investigation into the allegations made by Mrs 
Palmer about Mr Brimstone.

To this end, the person carrying out the fact finding exercise should interview Mrs Palmer, 
Jim Brown, Brian Rowntree and Mr Brimstone in order to indentify whether there might be 
substance to the allegations from the Spotlight programme.

Following these interviews, the person carrying out the fact-finding exercise should produce 
a report summarising the facts which have emerged from the interviews and making a 
recommendation, in light of those facts, on whether or not a formal disciplinary investigation 
would be warranted. This would involve additional interviews with any relevant person whose 
name emerges in the course of the original fact finding to corroborate the facts or to provide 
evidence against the allegations.
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Appendix 2

Committee for Social Development

Room 412 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/017/2011/SK

Mr Billy Crawford 
Department for Social Development 
Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 
Gasworks Business Park 
Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB� 17 September 2013

Dear Billy,

The department recently wrote to the committee advising it of the ‘fact-finding’ exercise to 
establish whether there is any basis for proceeding with a formal disciplinary investigation 
into the allegations made by Mrs Jenny Palmer about Mr Brimstone in the Spotlight 
programme of 3 July 2013.

In advance of the committee initiating an inquiry into this and related allegations made in the 
same programme I would ask you to confirm when this fact-finding exercise commenced and 
when it is expected to conclude.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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Appendix 3

Level 4 
Lighthouse Building 

1 Cromac Place 
Gasworks Business Park 

Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB

Tel: 028 90829 030 
Email:Billy.Crawford@dsdni.gov.uk

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Social Development Committee Clerk Northern Ireland Assembly  
Room 412 
Parliament Buildings 
Ballymiscaw 
Stormont 
Belfast BT4 3XX� Date: 25 September 2013

Dear Kevin

Thank you for your letter of 17 September 2013 about the fact finding exercise with regard to 
the allegations made in a recent Spotlight programme about the DSD Special Adviser.

I can confirm that the exercise commenced on 20 August 2013 and is now complete. 
The Department expects to receive the report of the exercise later this week. Once the 
Department has had the opportunity to fully consider the report, a decision will be made on 
the appropriate next steps and the Committee will be updated at that point.

Yours Sincerely,

Billy Crawford
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Appendix 4

Committee for Social Development

Room 412 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref:CSD/ 022/2013/CMcC

Mr Billy Crawford 
Department for Social Development 
Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 
Gasworks Business Park 
Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB� 26 February 2014

Dear Billy,

Committee Inquiry – Request for Information under Phase 3

At the Committee meeting of 13 February 2014, the Committee considered the evidence 
required under Phase 3 of the Inquiry into allegations arising from the Spotlight Programme.

The Committee agreed that it would write to the Department to request the following:

1.	 All correspondence between the former Minister for Social Development (Alex Attwood) and 
NIHE Senior Officials regarding the NIHE contract management regime. This should include 
but not be limited to correspondence relating to the Minister’s decision to carry out a review 
into the NIHE in October 2010.

2.	 All correspondence from April 2011 to September 2011 relating to the decision to terminate 
the Red Sky contract. This should include correspondence between the following parties:

■■ the NIHE Board;

■■ the Ministers for Social Development (former and present);

■■ the Ministers’ Special Advisers

■■ senior DSD and NIHE officials;

3.	 Copy of all correspondence between the Minister, Mr Brimstone and DSD and NIHE Senior 
Housing Officials and Ms Jenny Palmer in respect of the decision by the NIHE Board to 
terminate the Red Sky contact.

4.	 Copy of all documentation including briefing papers, correspondence, minutes, list of 
attendees for the meetings of 28 April 2011. The meeting was to discuss Red Sky at the 
office of the Chairman of the NIHE. Those present included: Peter Robinson MLA, Robin 
Newton MLA and Sammy Douglas MLA, Stewart Cuddy Acting Chief Executive, Dr John 
McPeake- Director of Housing & Regeneration and Acting Deputy Chief Executive

5.	 Copy of all documentation, including draft responses, accompanying submissions etc 
regarding the letter from Robin Newton MLA to the Minister on 17 May 2011 and the 
Minister’s response dated 31 May 2011.
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6.	 Copy of all documentation including briefing papers, correspondence, minutes, list of 
attendees for the meetings of 27 June 2011 - Meeting between representatives of Red Sky, 
Minister McCausland, Peter Robinson, Sammy Douglas, Robin Newton, Jim Wilkinson and 
Michael Sands.

7.	 Copy of all documentation including briefing papers, correspondence, minutes, list of 
attendees for the meetings of 30 June 2011 - Meeting between Minister McCausland, Brian 
Rowntree, Stewart Cuddy (Acting Deputy Chief Executive), Will Haire and Senior DSD Housing 
Officials to discuss response maintenance contracts.

8.	 Copy of the ASM Horwath investigation commissioned by the NIHE in 2009.

9.	 Copy of all correspondence regarding the outcome of the ASM Horwath and VB Evans 
investigation and the Repairs Inspection Unit Investigation. This should include 
correspondence between the following parties:

■■ NIHE Officials

■■ DSD Officials

■■ The Ministers for Social Development (former and present)

■■ Red Sky Ltd.

10.	 All correspondence between Red Sky’s administrators and DSD and NIHE – particularly any 
correspondence in relation to the purchase of contracts

11.	 Agenda and all papers produced for the papers and minutes of the NIHE Board meeting on 
Tuesday 5 July 2011

12.	 All correspondence between Red Sky and the Minister and his Special Adviser from May 
2011.

13.	 A copy of the dossier that the former Chairman of the Housing Executive, Mr Brian Rowntree, 
sent to the PSNI and the Serious Fraud Office in November 2011.

14.	 Copies of the letters from the BBC to Minister McCausland and Mr Brimstone in November 
2012 in connection with the Spotlight investigation. These letters were referred to in the 
letters of 7 June 2013 from the BBC to Minister McCausland and Mr Brimstone.

15.	 The Terms of Reference for the Oversight Group chaired by the Permanent Secretary and the 
minutes and reports produced by this Group including any correspondence to the Minister or 
Senior DSD and NIHE officials regarding the management of maintenance contracts

16.	 Agenda and Minutes of the Performance Review meetings between Minister McCausland and 
the Chair of the NIHE Board from May 2011 and 2012. Including all correspondence between 
Minister McCausland and the NIHE as a result of these meetings.

17.	 All correspondence in respect of the outcome of the internal investigation in May 2013 which 
found that contract management weaknesses led up £18m of overpayments. In particular 
correspondence between:

■■ The NIHE and Senior DSD officials

■■ Senior NIHE officials and the NIHE Board

■■ Senior DSD and NIHE officials and the Minister

■■ The Minister and the NIHE Board
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18.	 All correspondence in respect of the decision by the NIHE Board to commission Campbell 
Tickell to review the organisation’s planned maintenance contracts in June 2013: In particular 
correspondence between:

■■ The NIHE and Senior DSD officials

■■ Senior NIHE officials and the NIHE Board

■■ Senior DSD and NIHE officials and the Minister

■■ The Minister and the NIHE Board

The Committee also requested an update on the Department’s Fact Finding exercise in 
respect of the Minister’s Special Adviser Stephen Brimstone.

To assist the Committee with its Inquiry, we would appreciate if this information is provided 
to the Committee as soon as possible. To assist with the work of the Inquiry, we would 
appreciate if the information is forwarded to the Committee as soon as it is available, rather 
than information being delayed pending the collation of all documents.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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Appendix 5

2nd Floor 
Lighthouse Building 

1 Cromac Place 
Gasworks Business Park 

Ormeau Road 
BELFAST BT7 2JB

Telephone: 028 9082 9325 
Facsimile: 028 9082 9324 

EMail:susan.mccarty@dsdni.gov.uk

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Committee Clerk 
Committee for Social Development 
Room 412 
Parliament Buildings 
Ballymiscaw 
Belfast BT4 3XX� 11 April 2014

Dear Kevin

Social Development Committee Inquiry – Phase 3

Thank you for your letter dated 26 February 2014 in which you requested information 
from the Department and the Housing Executive in relation to Phase 3 of the Inquiry. I 
forwarded part of the information you requested on 14 March and 3 April and now attach 
further information.

Please find attached further documents and information in relation to the following:-

2.	 All correspondence from April 2011 to September 2011 relating to the decision to	
terminate the Red Sky contract. This should include correspondence between the	
following parties:

■■ the NIHE Board;

■■ the Ministers for Social Development (former and present);

■■ the Ministers’ Special Advisers

■■ senior DSD and NIHE officials;

In relation to your request for an update on the Department’s Fact Finding exercise in respect 
of the Minister’s Special Adviser Stephen Brimstone, this is an internal departmental matter 
relating to a member of staff. Therefore, it would not be appropriate at this time to provide 
a commentary on the matter. However, at the conclusion of the matter it is the Minister’s 
intention to inform the Committee of any outcome.

I hope this information is helpful. There are further documents in relation to numbers 1, 2, 9 
and 15 which I will forward to you as soon as possible.

Yours sincerely

Susan McCarty
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Thursday 6 November 2014 
Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present:	 Mr Mickey Brady MLA (Deputy Chairperson) 
Mr Jim Allister MLA 
Ms Paula Bradley MLA 
Mr Gregory Campbell MLA 
Mr Stewart Dickson MLA 
Mr Fra McCann MLA 
Mr Sammy Wilson MLA

In Attendance:	 Dr Kevin Pelan (Assembly Clerk) 
Mrs Ashleigh Mitford (Assistant Assembly Clerk) 
Mr Stewart Kennedy (Clerical Supervisor) 
Mr Richard Reid (Clerical Officer)

Apologies:	 Mr Alex Maskey MLA (Chairperson) 
Mr Michael Copeland MLA 
Mr Sammy Douglas MLA

10.06am The meeting began in closed session.

The Committee discussed issues relating to the attendance of witnesses to give oral 
evidence and the release of relevant documents to the Committee.

Agreed:	 The Committee agreed to write to Brian Rowntree regarding his decision not to 
give oral evidence to the Committee.

The Committee discussed the former Minister’s decision not to release the fact-finding report 
into the DSD Minister’s Special Adviser.

The motion was proposed: That the Committee write to the current Minister for Social 
Development requesting that he provides the Committee with the fact-finding report into the 
DSD Special Adviser.

Ayes 3; 
Noes 4; 
Abstentions; 0

AYES:

Ms Paula Bradley MLA 
Mr Gregory Campbell MLA 
Mr Sammy Wilson MLA

NOES:

Mr Mickey Brady MLA (Deputy Chairperson) 
Mr Jim Allister MLA 
Mr Stewart Dickson MLA 
Mr Fra McCann MLA

The motion fell.
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The motion was proposed: That the Committee write to the Minister for Social Development 
requesting that he provides the Committee with the fact-finding report into the DSD Special 
Adviser and advising the Minister that should he not release the report the Committee is 
minded to obtain its release by issuing of a section 44 notice.

Ayes 4; 
Noes 1; 
Abstentions 0.

AYES:

Mr Mickey Brady MLA (Deputy Chairperson) 
Mr Jim Allister MLAMr Stewart Dickson MLA 
Mr Fra McCann MLA

NOES:

Mr Sammy Wilson MLA

The motion was carried.

Agreed: 	 The Committee agreed to write to the Minister for Social Development as per the 
agreed motion.

[Excerpt]
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Appendix 14

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/3/SK

Mr Mervyn Storey MLA 
Minister for Social Development 
Department for Social Development 
Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 
Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB� 15 December 2014

Dear

DSD Special Adviser – Fact-Finding Exercise

Thank you for your letter of 11 December 2014. The Committee will consider this at its next 
meeting on 8 January 2015.

Yours sincerely

Alex Maskey

Chairperson, Committee for Social Development
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Letter from the Speaker 28.01.15
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Letters from Speaker and Minister – re Section 44 
Notice 3.01.05 & 4.01.15
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Letter from the Speaker to the Minister 05.02.14



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

682

Letter from the Chairperson to the Minister – 05.02.15
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Letter from the Chairperson to the Speaker – 05.02.15
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Letter from the Minister to the Chairperson – 
11.02.15
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Letter from the Chairperson to the Minister – 
12.02.15
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Letter from the Chairperson to the Speaker – 
12.02.15
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Letter from the Speaker to the Chairperson – 
12.02.15
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Letter from the Speaker to the Minister – 12.02.15
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Letter from the Minister to the Chairperson – 
18.02.15
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Letter to the Chairperson from the Minister – 
19.02.15



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

696

Letter from the Chairperson to the Minister – 
19.02.15
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Letter from the Chairperson to the Speaker – 
19.02.15
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Letter from the Speaker to the Chairperson – 
23.02.15
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Letter from the Speaker to the Minister – 23.02.15
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Letter from Chairperson to Speaker – 26.02.15

Committee For Social Development 
Room 284 

Parliament Buildings 
Belfast 

BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

26 February 2015

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/3/AM

The Speaker 
Mr Mitchel McLaughlin MLA 
Room 38 
Parliament Buildings 
Belfast 
BT4 3XX

Dear

Notice to the Minister for Social Development requiring the production of documents required 
by the Committee for Social Development

As you are aware the Minister for Social Development was required in a notice issued by you 
on 28 January 2015, to produce a report under Section 44 (7) of the 1998 Act by 5 pm on 
26 February 2015.

The Committee has considered further correspondence from the Minister today in which the 
Minister indicated that it is not his intention to release any further material in relation to the 
Fact Finding Report.

The Committee agreed to approach the Minister with a view to entering into arbitration on the 
issue.

In order to facilitate these discussions the Committee for Social Development agreed that I 
should write to advise you that the Committee agreed that the deadline for producing the full 
report under Section 44 (7) should be extended again, until 5pm on Thursday 5 March 2015.

The Committee would ask that the report is delivered to the Committee for Social 
Development Office, Room 114, Parliament Buildings, Belfast, BT4 3XX.

Yours sincerely

Mr Alex Maskey MLA 
Chairperson, Committee for Social Development
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Letter to Minister from Chairperson – 26.02.15 

Committee for Social Development 
Room 284 

Parliament Buildings 
Belfast 

BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

26 February 2015

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/3/AM

Mr Mervyn Storey MLA 
Minister for Social Development 
Department for Social Development 
Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 
Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB

Dear

DSD Special Adviser – Fact-Finding Exercise

Thank you for your letter of 25 February 2015 which the Committee considered today in 
closed session.

The Committee notes that it is not your intention to share further material in relation to the 
Report and agreed that I seek to meet with you to discuss a proposed way forward.

The Committee proposes to invite you to agree to a mechanism of arbitration of inviting the 
Lord Chief Justice to appoint a High Court Judge to examine the report in the context of the 
Terms of Reference for the Committee’s Inquiry to determine if further information should be 
disclosed.

In order to facilitate these discussions the Committee agreed to write to the Speaker to 
request that the notice issued under section 44 (7) of the 1998 Act be extended until 5 pm 
on Thursday 5 March 2015.

Yours sincerely

Alex Maskey 
Chairperson, Committee for Social Development
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Letter from Chairperson to Minister – 06.03.15 

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/3/SK

Mr Mervyn Storey MLA 
Minister for Social Development 
Department for Social Development 
Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 
Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB� 6 March 2015

Dear Mervyn,

DSD Special Adviser Fact-Finding Exercise – Mechanism for Arbitration

Thank you for your letter of 4 March 2015 in which you indicated that while you were willing 
to meet with me you were unable to accede to the proposal for arbitration as outlined in my 
letter of 26 February.

In light of your clarification on this matter and on the basis that the meeting was to discuss 
whether you would agree to the mechanism outlined, I have decided that such a meeting 
would have little or no merit.

The Committee discussed this issue at its meeting of 5 March and agreed with my view.

Despite this difficult matter I would hope that we can continue to build a solid working 
relationship to address the wide range of policy issues under the remit of the Department for 
Social Development.

Yours sincerely

Alex Maskey

Chairperson, Committee for Social Development
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Committee Approach - Procedural Fairness

Committee Approach – Procedural Fairness

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme 
aired on 3 July 2013, of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE 
managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions

Committee Approach – Procedural Fairness

Background

In preparing for its inquiry the Committee commissioned legal advice on a number of issues 
including procedural fairness.

The Committee discussed the advices and recognised the need to be cognisant of the issues 
they raised as the inquiry proceeded and to seek further legal advice as and when required.

Members will note that the primary aim of the inquiry is to make findings of fact which 
will inform consideration by the Assembly of matters set out in the Committee’s terms of 
reference. The Committee’s findings of fact may carry considerable weight particularly where 
they make findings about the actions of individuals. The Committee should be aware of the 
potential impact any findings may have on the reputation of an individual and seek to ensure 
that procedural fairness is afforded to individuals who will be affected by its findings.

Procedural fairness is a shorthand for a number of steps which may be taken to ensure 
fairness in an administrative decision-making process.

In seeking to minimise the risk of legal challenge to the Committee’s findings and procedures 
and ensure witnesses are treated fairly, the Committee is asked to agree the following 
approach as to how the inquiry will be conducted.

Proposed approach to ensure procedural fairness

The Committee’s role is to consider and evaluate evidence in the context of its agreed terms 
of reference and report its findings to the Assembly. It is suggested that —

I.	 All witnesses should be made aware in advance of their appearance before the 
Committee of the issues on which they are likely to be questioned and (where 
necessary) there should be disclosure of evidential material sufficient to enable the 
witness to give meaningful and focused answers.

II.	 Witnesses should be advised in advance of any meeting at which an oath or affirmation 
will be required.

III.	 Witnesses should be afforded a fair opportunity to put their own cases and to correct 
or contradict any statement which is inconsistent with evidence previously received by 
the Committee.

IV.	 Where the Committee’s findings refer adversely to an individual, and those findings are 
to be included in the Committee’s report to the Assembly, the Committee may wish to 
give that person the opportunity to comment on those findings before publication.

V.	 Members should declare any interest relevant to proceedings.

VI.	 Where a member of the Committee has evidence relating to the inquiry this should be 
shared with all Members prior to any witness session.

VII.	 The Committee should not normally consider any evidence provided anonymously.
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The Committee also agreed the following two additional points after considering the letter of 
10 July 2014 from the Departmental Solicitor’s Office:

■■ Where the Committee’s findings refer adversely to an individual, and those findings are to 
be included in the Committee’s report to the Assembly, the Committee may wish to give 
that person the opportunity to comment on those findings before publication; and

■■ The Committee believe that should a witness be accompanied by a legal adviser there is 
the potential for proceedings to become adversarial and this is a situation the Committee 
would seek to avoid. The Committee is also unaware of issues related to this inquiry which 
would necessitate the attendance of legal advisers. However, the Committee accepts that 
witnesses may apply to the Committee to be accompanied by a legal or other adviser and 
to consult any such adviser in the course of the meeting.



765

Committee Approach - Procedural Fairness

Comments from Stephen Brimstone - 13 April 2015



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

766



767

Committee Approach - Procedural Fairness



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

768

Letter to Stephen Brimstone - 27 March 2015

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/3/AM

27 March 2015

Mr Stephen Brimstone 
Department for Social Development 
Lighthouse Building 
1 Cromac Place 
Gasworks Business Park 
Ormeau Road 
Belfast BT7 2JB

Dear Stephen,

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013, 
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any 
resulting actions

The Committee agreed at its meeting on 26 March that, in line with its procedural fairness 
guidelines, it would issue the enclosed confidential draft report to you so that you have an 
opportunity to comment on it.

The Committee will conclude on its Inquiry on 16th April 2015 and as such, I would ask that 
you provide any comments you wish to make by 5PM Monday 13th April.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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Letter to Nelson McCausland - 27 March 2015

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/3/AM

27 March 2015

Dear Mr Nelson McCausland

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013, 
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any 
resulting actions

The Committee agreed at its meeting on 26 March that, in line with its procedural fairness 
guidelines, it would issue the enclosed confidential draft report to you so that you have an 
opportunity to comment on it.

The Committee will conclude on its Inquiry on 16th April 2015 and as such, I would ask that 
you provide any comments you wish to make by 5PM Monday 13th April.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan 
Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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List of Witnesses

List of Witnesses

Mr Nelson McCausland	 Former Minister for Social Development

Mr Stephen Brimstone	 Department for Social Development – Special Adviser

Mr Will Haire	�� Department for Social Development – 
Former Permanent Secretary

Mr Michael Sands	� Department for Social Development – 
Deputy Director of Housing

Mr Jim Wilkinson	 Department for Social Development – Director of Housing

Ms Heather Cousins	� Department for Social Development – Former Deputy 
Secretary

Mr Declan Allen	 Northern Ireland Housing Executive – Head of Procurement

Mr Clark Bailie	� Northern Ireland Housing Executive – 
Former Acting Head of Corporate Services

Mr Stuart Cuddy	 Northern Ireland Housing Executive – Former Acting CEO

Mr Raymond Kitson	� Northern Ireland Housing Executive – 
Former Repairs Inspection Unit Manager

Mr Colm McCaughley	� Northern Ireland Housing Executive – 
Former Director of Housing and Regeneration

Mr Paddy McIntyre	 Northern Ireland Housing Executive – Former Chief Executive

Dr John McPeake	 Northern Ireland Housing Executive – Former Chief Executive

Mr John McVeigh	� Northern Ireland Housing Executive – 
Head of Internal Audit

Mr Brian Rowntree	 Northern Ireland Housing Executive – Former Chairperson

Councillor Jenny Palmer	 Lisburn City Council

Mr Peter Cooke	 Red Sky – Former Managing Director
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Draft report which was not agreed by the Committee

Minority report to Inquiry arising from BBC 
N.I. Spotlight programme – compiled by DUP 
Members of the Committee.

Reasons for the production of a minority report
1.	 Over the course of phase 3 of the committee’s inquiry it became clear that there were 

divergent views on the appropriateness of the actions of Minister McCausland and his 
Special Adviser (SpAd), Stephen Brimstone, in relation to the termination of the Red Sky 
response maintenance contracts in 2011 by the Northern Ireland Housing Executive.

2.	 Indeed, following the BBC Spotlight report of 3rd July 2013 there was a debate on the 8 July 
2013 which indicated the possible future direction of the inquiry, when a number of members 
appeared to have already drawn conclusions as to the appropriateness of the Minister’s 
actions and that of his SpAd. 

3.	 The allegations made against the Minister Nelson McCausland and his SpAd Stephen 
Brimstone rested, in part, on the accusations levelled in the programme by Councillor Jenny 
Palmer.

4.	 On reflection it is concerning that every party involved in the inquiry and production of the 
Committee report, appeared to have reached a judgment based on the comments made in 
the Spotlight programme at this early stage and before any evidence from the people involved 
was ever heard at Committee. These comments include:

■■ Caitriona Ruane (Sinn Fein)

“Although the minister and his adviser have sought to dispute Jenny Palmer’s version of 
events about improper political influence, anyone who has seen the programme will draw 
their own conclusion about who is most believable”

■■ Jim Allister (TUV)

“anyone who watched Councillor Jenny Palmer should have no difficulty in deciding who is 
telling the truth.. She exuded integrity and honesty in everything she said. What a contrast 
with the cutting and running SPaD”

■■ Mark Durkan (SDLP)

“the revelations by Spotlight its allegations and insinuations of political corruption – at least 
that and possible criminality” …. I have no reason to doubt what Jenny Palmer said is true”

■■ Ross Hussey (UUP)

“Allegations of political interference have been made and the evidence is clearly there from 
….Jenny Palmer whose integrity is clearly intact”

Given the positions adopted before the inquiry ever began it is little wonder therefore that 
the Committee agreed such a one-sided report, the conclusions of which ignored much of the 
evidence which the Committee received.

5.	 Subsequently, during this last phase of the inquiry, it was evident by the nature of the 
questioning during the evidence sessions, the analysis of written submissions and related 
material and, ultimately, the conclusions reached by the Committee on this matter that these 
views had persevered.
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6.	 Following consideration of the Committee’s draft report a minority of Committee members 
agreed that it did not in any way reflect their views and that attempting to amend the report to 
incorporate these views was simply incompatible with the majority view. Indeed, this became 
clear when attempts to have a series of amendments made to the Committee’s initial draft 
report to achieve what the minority believed to be a more balanced report were consistently 
rejected by the Committee.

7.	 Therefore, following discussion at Committee, it was agreed that the most appropriate way 
to reflect the minority view was to produce a minority report which the Committee would then 
consider for inclusion as an appendix in its report.

8.	 At its meeting of 16 April 2015 the Committee considered the draft report and agreed that it 
should be included as an appendix to its report.

Key Issues 
9.	 As with the Committee report this minority report considers the central issue to be whether 

the actions of the former Minister in relation to the decision of the NIHE to terminate the Red 
Sky contracts in 2011 were appropriate.

10.	 Related to this, and referred to in detail in the Spotlight programme, were the actions of the 
SpAd in contacting Councillor Palmer prior to the special meeting of the NIHE board on 5 July 
2011, which had been called to review the decision to terminate the Red Sky contracts.

Context of the Minister’s Actions
11.	 In considering the central issue it is important to understand the context underpinning the 

Minister’s actions. 

12.	 The decision to terminate the Red Sky contracts had been taken by the NIHE Board on 13 
April 2011, roughly a month prior to the Minister’s appointment. 

13.	 Following his appointment he quickly became aware of concerns regarding the termination of 
the contracts. These were raised by East Belfast MLAs and the MP for the area who wrote to 
him voicing their concerns about the potential job losses in their constituency as a result of 
the termination of the contracts. In his evidence to the Committee Mr McCausland stated:

“this issue emerged within weeks — in fact, within days — of my arriving in the Department 
in May 2011. I wanted to have an opportunity to explore what the options might be so that, 
if there was a better option, it could be considered by the Housing Executive.”

14.	 In addition to potential job losses there were also concerns that the reasons for termination 
of the Red Sky contracts, overcharging and poor workmanship leading to a loss of trust and 
confidence, might also be present in other contractors including those to whom the contracts 
would be transferred under TUPE arrangements. Mr McCausland told the Committee:

“I wanted to be sure that we were not in a position where the Housing Executive removed 
contracts from one company and then transferred one of those contracts to another 
company in which similar issues might exist. No other company had been subjected to the 
same level of forensic scrutiny as Red Sky. There had been some work done on Leeway 
Maintain by the RIU and in view of the whistle-blowing evidence about it, but I wanted 
to have an assurance that we were not in a position of simply moving contracts from a 
company where there were issues — certainly, serious issues — to another company where 
there might also be serious issues”. 
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15.	 It is within this context that we considered whether the actions of the Minister were appropriate.

Meeting with East Belfast MLAs
16.	 The Committee considered evidence concerning a meeting Minister McCausland attended 

with East Belfast MLAs and representatives of Red Sky (the former Managing Director and 
former Independent Financial Director of Red Sky on 27 June 2011). The Committee noted 
that Departmental officials had advised him against attending this meeting which was 
to discuss the Red Sky contract, on the basis that it was an on-going contractual matter 
between the Housing Executive and Red Sky.

17.	 Much has been made of the Minister’s decision to attend this meeting given his officials’ 
advice but the Committee also heard that the Minister received legal advice which said that 

“Ministers may meet with whom they choose.”

18.	 On this point the Permanent Secretary also noted that 

“legally a Minister has an absolute right to attend such meetings. They just need to be very 
clear about what they can say and what their role is”.

19.	 It is therefore our view that the Minister in agreeing to this meeting acted within the 
parameters of his office.

Advice to the Minister regarding the meeting of 27 June 2011
20.	 We note that DSD officials provided a briefing for the Minister in advance of the meeting 

which included advice and a ‘line to take’. The advice related to being cautious in relation to 
‘contractual matters’. The note of the meeting also states that the Minister indicated early in 
the meeting that:

“these matters were currently with the Administrator and the Housing Executive”

21.	 This statement clearly reflected the advice contained in the briefing provided to him by 
officials. In oral evidence Mr Wilkinson (DSD) stated that the brief to the Minister was very 
clear in relation to contractual matters and that: 

“At the meeting, it was very much the Minister listening to reps”

22.	 At the same evidence session the Permanent Secretary said:

“You might argue that MLAs often bring up those issues of concern to Ministers….the 
Minister felt that it was his duty to listen…..There was no decision at that meeting. The 
Minister listened and heard a concern, but there was no action at that meeting …”

23.	 It is therefore clear that the Minister followed the advice of the officials during this meeting.

Action by the Minister following this meeting
24.	 Following concerns raised at the meeting of 27 June 2011, and subsequent meetings with 

NIHE on 28 and 30 June 2011, Minister McCausland wrote to Mr Rowntree, then Chairman of 
the NIHE Board, on 1 July 2011. In his letter he confirmed that he had asked officials to carry 
out a forensic investigation of other contractors to ensure that the problems identified in Red 
Sky were not also evident in other contractors.
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25.	 The Permanent Secretary in fact wrote to the Committee on 4th November 2014 to clarify that: 

“there were two contract related response investigations in relation to another company 
dating back to October 2010. This information was provided at that time by the Housing 
Executive who also advised that a preliminary investigation suggested that there were 
serious issues to be addressed and a full investigation was underway”

26.	 In written evidence the former Chairman of the NIHE, Mr Rowntree, also referred to ongoing 
reviews in line with RIU and NIHE audit reports. In oral evidence he stated: 

“Red Sky was not the only contractor under investigation, but it was the most difficult 
contractor in its relationship with the organisation and its adherence to standards. They were 
way ahead in negative indicators, and, as an organisation, we were duty-bound to respond.”

27.	 We therefore believe that the Minister’s actions requesting a forensic examination was an 
appropriate and a prudent step to seek assurance that that other firms, including those 
to whom these contracts were to be transferred, were not equally guilty of overcharging 
and, through this to ensure value for money service provision to tenants of the Housing 
Executive. To do otherwise may have led to accusations that he had acted irresponsibly.

28.	 The Minister also went on to request that the Chairman put to the Housing Executive Board 
that the termination date of the Red Sky contracts should be extended beyond 14 July 2011 
to allow an open procurement competition, subject to the administrator stating that it could 
continue. He stated that this contract should be for a period of six months or until new 
contract procedures could be put in place. 

29.	 It has been suggested that the Minister’s actions represent a deliberate attempt to give a 
private organisation advantage in a procurement exercise. However, it must be emphasised 
that the Minister did not instruct nor direct the NIHE to rescind its decision to terminate the 
contracts. Rather the Minister requested that his view - that the termination date be extended 
- was put to the NIHE Board for consideration and discussion with the Red Sky administrator.

30.	 In addition it should be noted that the Minister referred to the contracts ultimately being 
awarded via an open procurement competition. We note that such a competition would be 
administered and decided upon solely by the Housing Executive and therefore, in proposing 
this approach, the Minister could not be considered to have sought to confer advantage on 
any organisation.

31.	 It is important to note Mr Rowntree’s letter to the Permanent Secretary on 1 July 2011 in 
which he expresses concern “about the road you are pushing us down” and threatening legal 
action if the Permanent Secretary did “not step back and withdraw DSDs involvement.” This 
clearly suggests that the Chair believed he was being formally directed by the Minister to take 
action to extend the Red Sky termination notice which he did not believe the NIHE should take.

32.	 However, on this specific matter the Permanent Secretary told the Committee that he met 
with the NIHE Chairman on 4th July 2011, the day before its special board meeting, to ensure 
that he was clear about exactly what the Minister was requesting:

“It was not a direction that he had been given, it was a request to look at this issue and put 
it to the board, and it emphasised the point about the role of the administrator”. 

“It seems to me that he has a right to ask the board, but he does not have the right to direct it”.

33.	 The Minister in evidence to the Committee made it clear that rather than direct the board his 
letter to the Chairman on 1 July “made a request” and “that the role of the Department with 
regard to a public body under its ambit is one which needs to be carefully considered” and he 
made the point that “when the Housing Executive took its decision to terminate the Red Sky 
contract he endorsed that decision.”
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34.	 Furthermore, this request was subject to the Red Sky administrator being able to continue to 
service the Red Sky contracts during the proposed extended period.

35.	 It is therefore clear to us that this represents a Minister acting objectively, pragmatically, 
in the best interests of tenants, the public purse and to protect jobs, in a short period of 
time after assuming office and before the termination notice for the Red Sky contracts had 
expired. Indeed we believe that for him to have done otherwise would have been to neglect 
his duty.

36.	 In relation as to whether the comments made by the Minister regarding the establishment of 
a new company were compatible with the advice given to him by DSD officials, Mr Wilkinson 
stated: 

“The key thing is that the Minister expressed his view at the time”. 

37.	 And when asked if that was compatible with the line the Minister had been advised to take, 
Mr Wilkinson said:

“I followed up why that was the Minister’s view and what he would like to achieve. We 
were quite clear that the decision making would be entirely a matter between the Housing 
Executive and the Administrator”

38.	 Therefore, not only was the Minister transparent about his actions and the reasons for 
taking them, it is clear that the final decision regarding the extension of the termination 
date was not actually his to take but lay entirely with the Housing Executive and the 
administrator.

Phone call between the Special Adviser and Councillor Palmer
39.	 Although the terms of reference of the inquiry refer to the actions of Ministers, considerable 

time was given to the consideration of the actions of the Minister’s special adviser, Stephen 
Brimstone. This related specifically to the phone call made by Mr Brimstone on 1 July 2011 
to Councillor Palmer.

40.	 However, based on the evidence heard by the Committee the only undisputed fact about this 
phone call was that a phone call was made.

41.	 There was, and is, no agreement between Councillor Palmer and Mr Brimstone as to the 
nature or content of the phone call, nor is there any third party corroboration to support 
either’s account of the phone call.

42.	 Reference was made during the oral evidence sessions to the inability of Mr Brimstone to 
recollect the details of this phone call but we accept that it is reasonable to expect that a 
person may not recollect the detail of a phone call which lasted between 5 and 10 minutes, 
and which took place almost 4 years ago. 

43.	 We also note that while Councillor Palmer’s account is clear and has been consistent this 
does not, in itself, make it accurate. Indeed the Committee heard evidence from Councillor 
Palmer in which she said that Michael Sands told her that Mr Brimstone had informed him 
of having made the phone call. However, Mr Sands subsequently denied he said this to 
Councillor Palmer.

44.	 However, there is no doubt that she was made aware of the Minister’s views on this matter 
and that the Minister did not have confidence in the NIHE Chairman to adequately convey 
these to the board.

45.	 We would also point out the futility of requesting a single member to vote against the board’s 
position on termination of the contracts given that there are ten members of the board and a 
single vote would not have changed the board’s ultimate decision.
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46.	 While we do not make judgment on either account we simply highlight this to point out the 
potential impact the passage of time may have on the veracity of the evidence provided by 
individuals on this specific issue.

47.	 It could be argued that the more honest answer to a question about a conversation which 
took place nearly two years before would be to say that recollection was hazy at best which is 
the position adopted by Mr Brimstone.

48.	 We therefore believe that any conclusions on this matter made on the basis of the evidence 
heard by the Committee are little more than speculation.

Issue of Overpayments
49.	 The Committee in its report on phase 2 of the inquiry referenced a number of previous 

reports which painted a picture of the Housing Executive as an organisation which exhibited 
significant failings in governance and contractual management. 

50.	 The Minister explained the position clearly in his evidence to the committee when he was 
challenged about his querying of the NIHE decision to terminate the Red Sky contracts. He 
told the committee

“The issue of overpayment was one which the NIHE had been partly responsible for because 
of the chaotic way in which it dealt with maintenance payments and its failure to address 
these issues.”

51.	 Evidence from the Permanent Secretary, noted above, indicates that the issue of overcharging 
for work was not confined to Red Sky. It is also clear that the Housing Executive’s approach to 
the management of maintenance contracts also contributed to overcharging. It is therefore of 
concern that despite senior NIHE officials knowing this it was only Red Sky who were subject 
to the ultimate sanction of termination of contracts.

52.	 Mr Cooke, the former Managing Director of Red Sky, said in his oral evidence to the Committee:

“What we could find — I can freely agree with this — was that there was massive difficulty 
in working those contracts in the way that they were written. Nobody was doing that. In fact, 
the Housing Executive had instructed a number of variances to make them operational, and 
the vast bulk of what was claimed as overcharging was actually down to contractors doing 
exactly what they had been told to do.” 

53.	 Peter Cooke of Red Sky in his evidence explained that the NIHE had various codes for specific 
jobs but that often the types of jobs that actually had to be done did not fall clearly into 
a specific cost code. He said, for example, that if a garden had to be cleared there was a 
certain code which applied regardless of whether it involved lifting one item of rubbish or a 
lorry load of rubbish. In order to address the disparity in the expected work with that which 
actually had to be done, contractors were simply told by the NIHE to claim for more than one 
garden if the standard charge did not cover the work done. This approach while convenient 
to ensure payment was made, presented problems when the official work requested and the 
actual costs were audited and found not to match e.g. ten gardens were claimed for when 
only one was cleared. 

54.	 This left the transaction looking dubious and resulted in the appearance of overpayment and 
fraud by the contractor.

55.	 The surprising thing is that the NIHE management had not sought to remedy this problem but 
instead left contractors to bear the consequences.
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56.	 Mr Cooke went on to say: 

“I believe that Red Sky was doing exactly what everybody else was doing, what they were 
being told to do and what was being signed off properly by maintenance officers across all 
the districts.”

57.	 On allegations that Red Sky had been treated unfairly by NIHE Peter Cooke, said 

“I would use the word “victimisation”, but I cannot give you the reason behind  that because 
I do not know.”

58.	 In relation to the possibility that the issues apparent in Red Sky may be present in other 
contractors the former Acting Chief Executive, Mr Cuddy, said:

“….Our problem was that that might have been the case — as it turned out, it was the case 
— but two wrongs do not make a right. We were quite happy to say, “Yes, we will look at those 
contracts and if there are overpayments and overcharging, we will deal with those as well”.

“..The problem was Red Sky was off the Richter scale; it stood out because of the scale of 
this. And the scale was identified through the forensic report.”

59.	 The response of the Chairman, Brian Rowntree, when the Minister asked for other contractors 
to have their accounts subject to forensic examination, bearing in mind that the NIHE had 
admitted that more than one firm had been identified as overcharging, was quite disturbing. 
Mr Rowntree expressed his concern about the Minister becoming involved in operational 
matters of the NIHE and wrote to the Committee stating: 

“The minister requested that his department seek to nominate other contractors for further 
review and these nominations were not totally in line with the prioritisation and work plans 
of the NIHE.”

60.	 It is our view that in the face of its own evidence that other firms were involved in 
overcharging these responses are a damning indictment of the complacency which existed at 
the top of the NIHE and pose questions as to why one firm was pursued whilst investigation 
of the same behaviour were not a priority for the NIHE or part of its work plan. We believe 
the opposition of the NIHE to the forensic examination requested by the Minister reflected 
a desire by senior NIHE officials to hide the incompetence which the NIHE had displayed in 
dealing with maintenance contracts over a number of years even though it was known that 
the system was open to abuse.

61.	 The Committee also heard that there was significant media interest in Red Sky. The 
Committee received evidence from Mr Rowntree that in seeking legal advice on the Red Sky 
contracts the NIHE has provided its QC

“with reports that we had made and the various political commentaries that had taken 
place. We copied him in on political commentaries from the media around the Red Sky 
intervention. There were numerous political commentaries around Red Sky.”

62.	 Subsequent legal opinion received by the NIHE from its QC referred to “strong political 
pressures to terminate the Red Sky contract” and advised that in light of this any termination 
of the contract might be successfully challenged.

63.	 Mr Rowntree went on to give the opinion that the ‘political pressures’ were from political 
individuals and from the parties:

“…People in west Belfast; some people in Lisburn; people in Poleglass”  
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64.	 Indeed Mr Cuddy, the then Acting Deputy Chief Executive, referred to a previous intervention 
by the former Minister, Alex Attwood, who queried why the Red Sky contracts could not 
terminated. When asked about how this differed from Minister McCausland’s approach Mr 
Cuddy said

“The difference was that the civil servants at a senior level who accompanied the Minister 
to those meetings were echoing to the Minister the advice that we were giving. Where there 
is bad press around a contract, we can understand any Minister saying, “For goodness’ 
sake, what are you doing? Are you not going to get this sorted out? I want this contract 
terminated”. We put the view logically to him that there were certain steps that we had to 
take….”

65.	 However, at a fundamental level we regard it as unusual that a query by one minister, 
regarding the termination of the Red Sky contract, is not viewed by NIHE officials in the same 
way as Minister McCausland’s query regarding the extension of the contracts. 

66.	 The former Managing Director of Red Sky, Mr Cooke said

“The media, and the BBC in particular, enjoyed bringing Red Sky to the front as often as 
possible. I cannot believe that, when I went to Red Sky, I had never heard of it before. That 
is because when you start reading this stuff afterwards, you find that it was clearly an issue 
that stirred the public imagination for some considerable period of time. I was not aware of it 
other than that it appeared in the media to be a bit of a political football. I know nothing that 
justifies why that would be the case, other than perhaps that it was a company from east 
Belfast winning a contract in west Belfast. However, that is supposition.”

67.	 This media focus on Red Sky coupled with representation by political representatives may 
have contributed to allegations of sectarianism underpinning the focus on Red Sky and the 
perception that it had been ‘singled out’ despite evidence that other firms had engaged in 
similar practices. 

68.	 There is no dispute that there were attacks on Red Sky workers, political pressures from 
Sinn Fein representatives, and former SDLP ministers; a worker moved from his position in 
West Belfast and other contractors under investigation were not treated in the same way. We 
believe in any other circumstances questions about whether there was a sectarian motivation 
would not have been dismissed out of hand as they were by the NIHE and the media.

69.	 It is evident that Red Sky was not the only contractor under investigation indeed Brian 
Rowntree acknowledged that Red Sky was “not the only contractor under investigation” yet it 
was the only one to face such draconian action by the NIHE.

Conclusions
70.	 There were serious allegations of political interference in Housing Executive contractual 

matters made against the Minister and his special adviser in the BBC Spotlight programme 
aired in July 2013.

71.	 Over this phase of the inquiry the Committee received hundreds of pages of evidence 
and heard from a number of witnesses; with some witnesses giving evidence on several 
occasions and four witnesses giving evidence under oath or affirmation.

72.	 Our analysis of the evidence, written and oral, leads us to conclude that the actions of the 
Minister in requesting the NIHE to consider in conjunction with the administrator, an extension 
to the termination notice of Red Sky, were solely in the interests of the tenants of the Housing 
Executive.
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73.	 The evidence shows that the issues pertinent to Red Sky were known to exist in other 
contractors and the Housing Executive was aware of these. In this context the Minister’s 
decision to conduct a forensic analysis of other contractors and seek to have the termination 
notice of the Red Sky contract extended until this analysis was completed was both logical 
and practical.

74.	 We would also emphasise that it is our view that the Minister never at any time sought to 
confer advantage to a private organisation in any public procurement exercise by requesting 
that an extension to the termination date be considered. This is supported by the evidence 
heard by the Committee which was told that the decision to extend the contracts rested 
on the ability of the administrator to continue to service the Red Sky contracts during the 
extension period. When the Minister was advised that this could not be facilitated by the 
administrator he replied to the Housing Executive

“….the Housing Executive should proceed to the termination of the Red Sky contract on 14 
July and move forward with the proposals to re-assign contracts to adjacent contractors ...”

75.	 We are therefore content that the Minister did not seek to formally direct the Housing 
Executive using an Article 10 Direction of the Housing (Northern Ireland) Order 1981 and in 
fact ultimately supported the Housing Executive’s decision to proceed with the termination of 
the contracts. 

76.	 Having raised the issues which became the subject of this inquiry we can only express 
our outrage at the arrogant refusal of the BBC Spotlight producer to attend the committee 
and answer questions about the content of the programme. We find it hypocritical that a 
programme which demanded transparency from the Minister refused to have any scrutiny of 
its content and claims choosing rather to hide behind the cloak of editorial independence.
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http://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/nihe_contracts.pdf

PAC Report - NIHE Management of response of maintenance contracts  
http://www.niassembly.gov.uk/Documents/Reports/Public-Accounts/NIHE_management_
maintenance.pdf



Appendix 10

Phase 3 Supplementary 
Evidence – Documentation 
relating to events following 
the termination of the Red 

Sky Contracts





955

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

Contents

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the 
termination of the Red Sky Contracts

10.1	 NIHE board meeting paper – 13 April 2011� 956

10.2	 Red Sky contract termination correspondence – 13 April 2011� 968

10.3	 Meeting between NIHE and East Belfast MLAs – 28 April 2011� 970

10.4	 Correspondence between Minister and East Belfast MP /  
MLAs – April/May 2011� 983

10.5	 Correspondence relating to former senior management of Red Sky’s  
approaches to NIHE� 990

10.6	 Documentation relating to meeting between Minister, East Belfast MLAs  
and former senior management of Red Sky – 27 June 2011� 993

■■ note of the meeting

■■ letter to Minister requesting meeting

■■ briefing advising Minister to decline meeting and draft response

■■ documentation regarding amendment to draft response

■■ briefing for Permanent Secretary

■■ NIHE input to briefing for Minister

■■ briefing for Minister

10.7	 Documentation relating to meeting between Minister and NIHE  
– 30 June 2011� 1027

10.8	 Follow-up correspondence to 30 June meeting	including advice on Ministerial 
Direction – 1 July 2011� 1039

10.9	 Documents relating to NIHE Board meeting – 5 July 2011� 1055

10.10	 Follow-up correspondence to NIHE board decision of 5 July 2011� 1066

10.11	 DSD/NIHE correspondence November 2012 – March 2013� 1079

10.12	 Briefing paper for Minister’s meeting with Chair of Social Development  
Committee – 6 July 2011� 1091

10.13	 NIHE/BDO/Adjacent Contractor correspondence� 1104

10.14	 Documentation relating to outcome of investigations into other contractors� 1112



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

956

10.1	 NIHE board meeting paper – 13 April 2011



957

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

958



959

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

960



961

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

962



963

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

964



965

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

966



967

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

968

10.2	Red Sky contract termination correspondence – 
13 April 2011



969

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

970

10.3	Meeting between NIHE and East Belfast MLAs – 
28 April 2011



971

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

972



973

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

974



975

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

976



977

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

978



979

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

980



981

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

982



983

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.4	Correspondence between Minister and 
East Belfast MP/MLAs – April/May 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

984



985

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

986



987

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

988



989

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

990

10.5	Correspondence relating to former senior 
management of Red Sky’s approaches to NIHE



991

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

992



993

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.6	� Documentation relating to meeting between 
Minister, East Belfast MLAs and former Senior 
Managment of Red Sky - 27 June 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

994



995

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

Letter to Minister requesting meeting – 
17 May 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

996

Briefing advising Minister to decline meeting and  
draft response – 27 May 2011



997

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

998



999

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1000



1001

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1002

Documentation regarding amendment to 
draft response



1003

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1004



1005

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1006

Briefing for Permanent Secreatary



1007

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1008



1009

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1010

NIHE input to briefing for Minister



1011

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1012



1013

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1014



1015

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1016



1017

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1018

Briefing for Minister



1019

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1020



1021

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1022



1023

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1024



1025

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1026



1027

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.7	Documentation relating to meeting between 
Minister and NIHE – 30 June 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1028



1029

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1030



1031

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1032



1033

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1034



1035

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1036



1037

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1038



1039

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.8	 Follow-up correspondence to 30 June meeting 
including advice on Ministerial Direction - 1 July 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1040



1041

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1042



1043

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1044



1045

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1046



1047

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1048



1049

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1050



1051

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1052



1053

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1054



1055

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.9	Documents relating to NIHE Board meeting - 
5 July 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1056



1057

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1058



1059

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1060



1061

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1062



1063

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1064



1065

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1066

10.10	 Follow-up correspondence to NIHE board decision 
of 5 July 2011



1067

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1068



1069

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1070



1071

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1072



1073

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1074



1075

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1076



1077

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1078



1079

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.11	DSD/NIHE correspondence November 2012 – 
March 2013



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1080



1081

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1082



1083

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1084



1085

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1086



1087

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1088



1089

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1090



1091

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract

10.12	Briefing paper for Minister’s meeting with Chair of 
Social Development Committee – 6 July 2011



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1092



1093

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1094



1095

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1096



1097

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1098



1099

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1100



1101

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1102



1103

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1104

10.13	NIHE/BDO/Adjacent Contractor correspondence



1105

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1106



1107

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1108



1109

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1110



1111

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1112

10.14	Documentation relating to outcome of 
investigations into other contractors



1113

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1114



1115

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1116



1117

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1118



1119

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1120



1121

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1122



1123

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1124



1125

Phase 3 Supplementary Evidence – Documentation relating to events following the termination of the Red Sky Contract



1126



Appendix 11

BBC NI Correspondence and 
Programme Transcripts





1129

BBC NI Correspondence and Programme Transcripts

Letter to BBC – Request for Documentation Phase 3 
7.5.14

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST 
BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/SK

BBC Litigation Department 
BBC 
Second Floor 
Broadcast Centre 
201 Wood Lane 
London W12 7TP� 7 May 2014

Dear BBC Litigation Department,

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013, 
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any 
resulting actions

I am writing on behalf of the Committee for Social Development in relation to its Inquiry into 
allegations regarding NIHE contracts.

At a meeting on 4 July 2013, the Committee for Social Development agreed to hold an Inquiry 
into allegations regarding NIHE contracts and, on 3 October, agreed the following Terms of 
Reference;

i.	 Decision making relating to the award, modification and cancellation of NIHE 
maintenance contracts to establish any impropriety or irregularity and, in particular, 
whether the actions of Ministers were appropriate.

ii.	 Allegations that the Committee was misled by the Minister for Social Development over 
his decision to seek a review of the specification for the supply and fitting of double 
glazing.

iii.	 The adequacy of actions proposed by the Minister, DSD and the NIHE to address 
previous, well documented failings in relation to procurement and contract 
management.
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And;

Should the Committee identify any evidence of corruption in relation to the operation of NIHE 
maintenance contracts and /or any actions indicating possible breaches of relevant codes of 
conduct, these will be reported directly to the appropriate authorities.

The Committee is of the opinion that documents compiled by the Spotlight team in its 
research for the programme, aired on 3 July 2013, may be of importance to the Inquiry.

The Committee exhausted all other avenues for obtaining relevant documents prior to issuing 
this request for material from the BBC, and has asked me to highlight the information it 
has received to date in relation to strand (i) of the above Terms of Reference. A list of the 
information currently held by the Committee is contained in appendix A.

I would request that you make available to the Committee any documents held by you which 
relate to strand (i) of the above Terms of Reference and are not listed in Appendix A.

I very much appreciate your assistance in this matter. Please contact me if you would like to 
discuss.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan

Clerk, Committee for Social Development 
(appendix A available on request from Committee Office - address above)



1131

BBC NI Correspondence and Programme Transcripts

Letter from BBC 10.9.14



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1132



1133

BBC NI Correspondence and Programme Transcripts



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1134



1135

BBC NI Correspondence and Programme Transcripts



Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013,  
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any resulting actions – Phase 3

1136

Additional documents provided by BBC  
October 2014
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Letter to BBC – 15.09.14

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/SK

BBC Litigation Department 
BBC 
Second Floor 
Broadcast Centre 
201 Wood Lane 
London W12 7TP� 15 September 2014

Dear BBC Litigation Department,

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013, 
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any 
resulting actions

At its meeting on 8 May 2014 the Committee for Social Development considered the letter 
of 2 May 2014 from the BBC Litigation Department, advising that BBC personnel relevant to 
the Committee’s Inquiry will not voluntarily attend Committee meetings to give the evidence 
requested by the Committee. The Committee subsequently discussed this issue and agreed 
not to pursue the matter further.

At its meeting on 4 September 2014 the Committee discussed the schedule of evidence 
sessions for Phase Three of its Inquiry and noted again that it would be pertinent for the 
relevant BBC personnel to appear before the Committee to give evidence. The Committee 
therefore agreed to request oral evidence from the BBC in relation to Phase Three of its 
Inquiry at the Committee meeting to be held at 10.00am on Thursday 16 October 2014, in 
Room 29, Parliament Buildings.

Phase Three of the Committee Inquiry relates to:

Decision making relating to the award, modification and cancellation of NIHE maintenance 
contracts to establish any impropriety or irregularity and, in particular, whether the actions of 
Ministers were appropriate.

The Committee acknowledges that the BBC is currently working to provide the Committee 
with further information in respect of Phase 3 of the Committee Inquiry. As you will be aware 
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the Committee has already compiled a significant body of written information from the 
Department and other third parties named in the Spotlight programme.

The Committee is now at a point where it has exhausted all avenues for obtaining written 
evidence and will receive oral evidence in order to help inform the Committee and assist in its 
duty to carry out the Inquiry.

The Committee has requested that the producer of the Spotlight Programme, aired on 3 
July 2013, and the relevant senior BBC staff involved in its production should attend the 
Committee on Thursday 16 October 2014.

The Committee notes your previous concern that any “request which is too widely drawn, 
and which is lacking in specificity, has a chilling effect on the BBC’s ability to exercise its 
convention rights of freedom of expression.”

The Committee assures the BBC that the appearance before the Committee will be solely 
focused on Phase Three of the Inquiry.

The Committee recognises the BBC’s rights in respect of Article 10 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights, and would emphasise that it is not asking the BBC to reveal its 
journalistic sources or requesting material which would identify its journalistic sources.

The Committee would like to clarify that this request to appear before the Committee does 
not constitute a notice under section 44 (7) of the 1989 Act.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan

Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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Letter to BBC – 28.11.14

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/SK

BBC Litigation Department 
BBC 
Second Floor 
Broadcast Centre 
201 Wood Lane 
London W12 7TP� 28 November 2014

Dear BBC Litigation Department,

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013, 
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any 
resulting actions

Thank you for your letter of 22 October 2014, reaffirming the reasons why you do not 
consider it appropriate for BBC journalists to voluntarily attend Committee to give evidence to 
the above mentioned Inquiry.

I wish to advise you that this issue remains under consideration by the Committee and that I 
will correspond with you again in due course.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan

Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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Letter to BBC – 23.01.15

Committee for Social Development

Room 284 
Parliament Buildings 

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Email: kevin.pelan@niassembly.gov.uk 
Tel: 028 9052 1864 
Fax: 028 9052 1667

Our Ref: CSD/022/2013/AM

BBC Litigation Department 
BBC 
Second Floor 
Broadcast Centre 
201 Wood Lane 
London W12 7TP� 23 January 2015

Dear BBC Litigation Department,

Inquiry into allegations, arising from a BBC NI Spotlight programme aired on 3 July 2013, 
of impropriety or irregularity relating to NIHE managed contracts and consideration of any 
resulting actions

At its meeting on 22 January 2015, the Committee reviewed the evidence it has gathered 
to date relating to Phase 3 of its Inquiry. Members agreed that I should write to you seeking 
assistance in order to establish the facts around a number of issues. These include:

■■ conflicting evidence received by the Committee regarding the nature and content of the 
phone call from Mr Brimstone to Councillor Palmer on 1 July 2011;

■■ the motivation behind the Minister’s actions in seeking to have the termination date of the 
Red Sky contract extended;

■■ conflicting evidence regarding the genesis of the email that was sent by Michael Sands to 
Brian Rowntree on 5th July 2011 at 7.40am; and

■■ evidence regarding the series of draft apologies from Mr Brimstone to Cllr Palmer.

The Committee is disappointed that the BBC has so far refused to attend to provide oral 
evidence to this inquiry despite the seriousness of the allegations made in the Spotlight 
Programme against the former Minister and his Special Adviser. However, given that the 
Committee has published all the oral evidence it has taken from witnesses on its website, 
the Committee believes the programme makers may now be in a position to present further 
evidence on the above issues, and possibly related matters, that confirms or contradicts 
evidence the Committee has heard to date.
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To that end I would ask the programme makers to attend voluntarily to give evidence to the 
Committee on these matters.

I would be grateful if you could provide the Committee with a response within 10 working days 
of receipt of this letter.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Pelan

Dr Kevin Pelan

Clerk, Committee for Social Development
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BBC Spotlight Transcript - 3 July 2013

Spotlight – 03/07/13

Mandy McAuley (MMA): Tonight on Spotlight: the battle of Red Sky and the Housing 
Executive. We reveal detailed accusations of corruption.

Mr Hayes, it’s Mandy McAuley from the BBC. Mr Hayes, did you authorise cash payments to 
three Housing Executive Maintenance Officers?

In a major investigation, the Housing Minister, Nelson McCausland is charged with misleading 
the Assembly.

Against a backdrop of sectarian suspicions and job losses, we reveal evidence indicating that 
First Minister Peter Robinson, Nelson McCausland and his Special Advisor have all broken the 
rules that govern public life.

Mr Brimstone, did Nelson McCausland tell you to ring Jenny Palmer and change her vote on 
the Housing Executive Board?

We see how a DUP Counsellor has been driven to near despair by the ruthlessness of 
members of her own party.

Jenny Palmer (JP): He said “the party comes first…you do what you’re told”. I didn’t know 
who I could trust.

Ross Hussey (RH): I’m disgusted that woman was put in that position and has been brought 
to tears by a political party, but shame on them.

MMA: We seek to uncover the truth behind the scandal of a public body seemingly out of 
control, riddled with overcharging and corruption, and subject to political interference. At 
the heart of the battle, the clash between Nelson McCausland and the man who is, today, 
Chairman of the Northern Ireland Civil Service Commissioners. A conflict that threatens to 
destroy individual careers and the Housing Executive itself.

Brian Rowntree (BR): I want to say something now. I can’t take much more. I really, really 
can’t take much more.

MMA: Stormont last month, following a series of letters from Spotlight about the Housing 
Executive, a surprise announcement by the Social Development Minister, Nelson McCausland.

Nelson McCausland (NMC): The scale of what has been uncovered has been a scandal.

MMA: A massive loss of public money by the Housing Executive.

NMC: The figure is estimated to be some £18million. Let me say that again in case you think 
you’ve misheard: £18million in overpayments to four contractors.

MMA: The Minister’s statement turns into an unprecedented public attack, delivered, 
without notice, on the man he blames: the former Chairman of the Housing Executive, Brian 
Rowntree.

NMC: The assurances he gave me that, during his tenure, significant progress had been 
achieved in dealing with the contract issues. These emphatic assurances from Mr Rowntree, 
both verbal and written, were useless. They were not worth the paper they were written on.

BR: I, at no stage, gave the Minister any assurances in relation to contracts. I gave the 
Minister assurances in relation to improvements in process.
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MMA: Brian Rowntree, today the Chairman of Northern Ireland’s Civil Service Commissioners, 
has a long record of public service. An independent member of the Policing Board. The only 
person publicly singled out by the Minister, he sees Nelson McCausland’s statement as part 
of a sustained campaign to destroy his credibility because of a decision to end the contract 
of a discredited housing repair company from East Belfast called Red Sky.

Why were you named in the Assembly?

BR: My view is that I stood on something that people didn’t like. My view is that I got close 
to the truth, but my view is that, because of the personal involvement I had, because of the 
knowledge I had of the issues involved, that it was easier to discredit me than deal with the 
facts and the truth surrounding the case.

MMA: But what are the facts and truths of the case? According to the DUP, Red Sky was 
targeted by Brian Rowntree simply because it was perceived as a mainly Protestant company.

NMC: At the time that the Red Sky contracts were terminated, it was argued by some people 
that Red Sky was singled out and the motivation behind this decision was questioned.

MMA: Sectarianism: the shout from Unionist benches. But Brian Rowntree maintains that 
Red Sky was dismissed because it was proven to have charged the Housing Executive 
for work that had not been done. Nelson McCausland insists Red Sky was one of many 
companies overcharging the Executive, but it alone was targeted and he says the revelation of 
the £18million loss is clear evidence that there were far worse abuses taking place under the 
Housing Executive’s nose.

NMC: There’s an old saying, somebody’s either a fool or a knave – they either do something 
because of stupidity and incompetence, or there’s something untoward behind it. Time will 
tell…we just, at present, do not know.

BR: I’m demanding a police inquiry into this issue. I’m demanding the Serious Fraud Office 
take this on board and, most importantly, I’m demanding an external, independent inquiry.

MMA: We have spent months piecing together the inside story of the Red Sky affair. We 
have pored over previously unseen documents – information that Stormont departments 
didn’t want released. Many of the people we have interviewed are still too scared to speak 
publicly, but key figures have stepped forward for the first time. They tell how an investigation 
to expose wrongdoing turned into a sectarian struggle. How the Housing Executive, an 
independent body, became exposed to naked, political interference and how vast sums of 
public money were wasted.

April 2011, the start of the extraordinary battle between Brian Rowntree and the DUP, 
sparked by the decision to sack Red Sky. Multi-million pound repair contracts and, potentially, 
hundreds of jobs were at stake. Peter Robinson broke off campaigning for the Assembly 
elections to go and meet Brian Rowntree with other DUP politicians from East Belfast. They 
met here, at the Housing Executive Headquarters. We have spent months questioning the 
former Housing Executive Chairman about the Red Sky affair. In his first interview with us, he 
recalled that tense encounter with Peter Robinson.

BR: Yes, we did have a very intense and a challenging meeting. It was a very forthright and 
it was a very on-the-table conversation around the decision of the Board to terminate the 
contract of Red Sky and the ramifications that…for Red Sky as an entity and for the workers 
and for the local community.

MMA: According to this minute of the meeting, Peter Robinson said Red Sky was being 
singled out from other companies that carried out Housing Executive repairs. He was told 
an investigation by independent forensic accountants had found Red Sky overcharged the 
Housing Executive by as much as £1.5million, but he remained highly critical of the decision 
and the Housing Executive’s approach to Red Sky.



1151

BBC NI Correspondence and Programme Transcripts

Peter Robinson: Hello, how are you?

MMA: Peter Robinson said Red Sky’s dismissal reflected a sectarian bias on the part of the 
Housing Executive.

Alex Kane (AK): I find it extraordinary because he’s First Minister but, he is, in effect, de 
facto Prime Minister of Northern Ireland. You know, the buck ultimately for everything, for 
every department, for every Minister, it ultimately stops with him. He is the face of the 
Northern Ireland Executive. The face of the Northern Ireland Government and yet somehow, 
when he’s…when he’s given evidence that a company is overcharging on a massive scale, he 
defends the company. I can’t imagine David Cameron or Alex Salmond doing this. Not once 
does he actually say ‘you know, this shouldn’t have happened. This is wrong, this is morally 
wrong. It’s wrong financially. It’s corrupt. It’s whatever’. None of that. Suddenly, when faced 
with this evidence, he looks for the scapegoat again.

RH: In relation to the sectarian remarks, it is clutching at straws. It’s attempting to justify the 
unjustifiable. Here we have a company who have admitted that they charged for something 
that did not happen. That’s the important issue here. The question of sectarianism is a red 
herring in the Red Sky scenario. It’s totally irrelevant.

MMA: In fact, the Housing Executive decision was not taken by Brian Rowntree alone. 
Indeed, one of the Housing Executive Board members who voted to dismiss Red Sky was a 
member of the DUP. Jenny Palmer had, at the time, just won an award as Northern Ireland’s 
outstanding Councillor for her work in Lisburn. With a successful background in business, 
she was also part of the Housing Executive’s audit team that reviewed the evidence against 
Red Sky in depth. In an extraordinary challenge to her party’s leadership, she says Red Sky’s 
dismissal was a decision based entirely on the facts.

JP: I find it incredible that someone would say that we had removed the contract from 
Red Sky because of sectarianism. I…I totally refute that allegation. We were objective, we 
investigated, we challenged, we went through processes, the evidence was presented to us 
in a way that we could do no more. Red Sky were given opportunities and they didn’t accept 
them…to put things right. The Board had no option but to remove that contract and there 
was absolutely not ever mentioned anything to do with religion or the religious breakdown of 
that contractor. Never. I never remember ever it being said to me in the board room, this is a 
Protestant workforce because I didn’t even know that at the time.

MMA: So, what were the facts about Red Sky? Red Sky’s owner, Norman Hayes, had a long 
history of doing repair work for the Housing Executive. It made him a fortune but he and 
his company had also been publicly linked to dodgy dealings involving a Housing Executive 
employee. Though none of that was mentioned in a relaxed interview in a rare television 
appearance by Norman Hayes on a magazine show.

Norman Hayes (NH): It’s common sense is what I would say I would have, more than anything 
else…and persistence and I would say that I’ve been lucky.

MMA: A succession of Housing Executive officials were caught manipulating work orders and 
accepting gifts from Hayes’ companies. Nights out in the Odyssey complex or, in one case, 
a trip to America. But while the workers were disciplined, there was no evidence against 
Hayes and his companies. A Police investigation, asked for by the Housing Executive, came to 
nothing and Hayes gained more and more Housing Executive work. In 2007, Red Sky got work 
in West Belfast for the first time. It was a crucial turning point. Almost immediately residents 
complained about the quality of the work. Mother of five, Sinead Flannery’s kitchen ceiling 
collapsed four times in the space of a year after Red Sky repairs.

Sinead Flannery (SF): They had hammered a nail through the central heating pipe and the 
water was running along the pipe and leaking here and dripping. They had come out three 
times, fixed the pipe there, plastered it…they thought that’s where the leak was, but all along, 
it was the hole over there with the nail in it and then, next thing, the ceiling’s down again. The 
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best part of the ceiling just came down right on top of me. Really, on the head and all over my 
shoulders…I was covered in plaster and it was scary, being honest.

MMA: And you were pregnant?

SF: Yeah. I had only eight weeks to go.

MMA: The poor quality of Red Sky’s work wasn’t the only problem. In some cases, the work 
hadn’t actually been done.

SF: I’ve had the people from the Housing Executive coming in to me and going ‘this work was 
completed; this work was completed’. I’m going ‘no it wasn’t…go look for yourself’. They said 
they’d put extra cupboards above my kitchen walls. No they didn’t.

MMA: And what else did they say had been completed?

SF: A new floor put in the bathroom. I says “no, sorry, there wasn’t”. They were sort of ‘well, 
it’s down here on paper’. I says “it may be down on paper, go in and see for yourself, I have 
nothing that’s down there that they have done”.

MMA: Another West Belfast resident says Red Sky ruined her house. She preferred to remain 
anonymous, but showed us photographs of the damage.

West Belfast Resident: I’d rung the Housing Executive to tell them that I thought that I had 
a bath leak, so they send two guys out. They came in, went straight up the stairs and came 
down and says ‘oh, I have to go, I’ve broke your toilet’.

MMA: She waited several hours for them to come back and when they tried to clear the 
problem, it got worse.

West Belfast Resident: They came back and says to me that there was a blockage and did I 
know where the sewerage system was and, the next thing, human waste started flowing out 
of the soil stack in to the kitchen.

MMA: I mean, we’re not talking a small amount…

West Belfast Resident: No.

MMA: This is like a slurry spray of…

West Belfast Resident: Yeah, and the smell. Oh, the fumes was really, really bad and it was 
just really, really sickening. They came walking down the stairs and just says to me ‘look, 
sorry, we have to go…we knock off early’ and they left me with this mess that they created. 
Red Sky created the mess and they left me with it then.

MMA: Inspectors in West Belfast refused to approve large amounts of Red Sky’s work. These 
examples compiled by Housing Executive Maintenance Officers have never been shown 
publically before. An internal review by the Housing Executive found the firm was failing to 
meet targets and had built up a backlog of hundreds of unfinished jobs in just seven months. 
Red Sky said the real problem was sectarian bias from Housing Executive inspectors and 
local residents, spurred on by Nationalist politicians.

Red Sky would argue this was nothing to do with the quality of their work. It was because 
people in West Belfast did not want a Protestant firm working in this area.

SF: Well, I’ll tell you that…I’m only after hearing that for the first from you. I didn’t know 
where them guys came from, what part of the city they lived in. I made no judgement on them 
people whatsoever. I didn’t ask questions and whatever. I just let them in to do the work. No 
reason to ask them anything to be honest with you.

MMA: You just wanted the work done.
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SF: Yeah, that’s what they’re paid to do, isn’t it? Doesn’t matter where they come from.

MMA: So, the residents we spoke to said the problem with Red Sky was the quality of work, 
not their religion. But, it’s the religion of the man holding the firm to account in West Belfast 
that is hardest to reconcile with the charge of sectarianism. An Elder in the Presbyterian 
Church, Gary Ballantyne, was the Senior West Belfast Manager criticising Red Sky. Gary 
Ballantyne and his inspectors tried to expose the problems with Red Sky. They contributed 
to detailed reports of Red Sky’s performance. We know one crucial report was seen by two 
senior managers: Colm McCally and Chief Executive, Paddy McIntyre. They did not pass on all 
of the most serious information to Brian Rowntree and the Board of the Housing Executive – 
something an official report would later describe as “disturbing”. With the Housing Executive 
Board unaware of the criticism, Red Sky was allowed to expand. Following an extension to 
two contracts in 2008, Red Sky was in charge of repair work in most of Greater Belfast. 
In total, the contracts were worth nearly £7million annually. But in West Belfast, relations 
between Red Sky and Gary Ballantyne’s inspectors had virtually broken down. Just before 
Christmas, Red Sky’s Group Development Manger, Pauline Gazzard, wrote to Colm McCally, 
one of the managers who failed to pass on some of the most damning criticism of Red Sky’s 
performance, saying she was looking forward to the season of goodwill, but she had a sour 
note.

[Not Pauline Gazzard herself, someone reading her words.]

Voice reading Pauline Gazzard (PG): “It is also considered necessary to reiterate our deep 
concern in relation to certain personalities who remain working in the West Belfast District 
Office and we trust appropriate actions will be taken to address this in the near future.”

MMA: There was no reply to her letter. But, over the coming months, Gary Ballantyne, his 
Maintenance Manager, and a Maintenance Officer, were all moved out of the West Belfast 
Office, although it has since been claimed, this was part of a normal rotation of staff.

Ross Hussey is a member of the Stormont Committee that interrogated the Housing 
Executive about Red Sky.

RH: They say a red sky in the morning is a shepherd’s warning and I doubt…you totally 
overlooked this warning here, totally.

MMA: We showed him Pauline Gazzard’s letter that appeared to call for Red Sky’s critics to 
be removed.

RH: Red Sky were, in effect, pulling the strings of the Housing Executive. I think that there 
is more than alarming. It’s scandalous. That letter undoubtedly would indicate that Red 
Sky basically called the shots. That letter would indicate that they said ‘we want something 
done’ and the response from the Housing Executive was to do as they asked. That’s morally 
indefensible.

MMA: Like the reports on Red Sky’s poor performance, Pauline Gazzard’s letter was not 
shown to the Housing Executive’s Board. But complaints about Red Sky spread and eventually 
reached the Northern Ireland Audit Office. They told the Housing Executive to call in forensic 
accountants to carry out an independent review. Their report has never been released in its 
entirety, but we’ve seen it. The report found significant evidence of overcharging, estimated 
by the forensic accountants at between £800,000 and £1.3million. It was this report that 
was to trigger the ending of Red Sky’s contract. It shows details of jobs that the firm billed for 
twice and the Housing Executive paid for twice.

On this street Red Sky charged over £1,000 for installing a disabled ramp and rail. There’s 
nothing wrong with that, except they charged exactly the same amount of money for the 
house next door, without doing any of the work.
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And here, near Sandy Row, Red Sky charged £1,300 plus VAT to dry line the back bedroom of 
a house…and then charged the same amount again to do the same room in the same house. 
Red Sky also charged for work at addresses that didn’t exist, like work on two blocks of flats 
that had already been demolished. The payments were admitted by Red Sky’s Managing 
Director who’d only been with the company four months.

Peter Cooke (PC): Our operative will have driven through an estate and looked at x number of 
blocks and ticked the box to say ‘everything is done, I’ve inspected it’, but in reality, what he 
never did, was count the number of blocks and some of those blocks had been demolished 
in previous years, actually during the time of the previous contractor who was also paid for 
them, so that is an error on our part. We did not count the blocks and we held our hands up 
to that and we’ve repaid that sum. It’s a very small sum.

MMA: Brian Rowntree had two reasons to be concerned about that statement.

BR: As a Chairman of a large public authority in Northern Ireland, to witness on TV someone 
admitting that they had charged for buildings that didn’t exist gives you grounds for serious 
concern. What gives me grounds for further concern is that someone in our organisation 
approved those payments to Red Sky.

MMA: Housing Executive inspectors approved more than 80% of Red Sky’s questionable 
charges. Eventually, eight Housing Executive workers were disciplined over Red Sky’s 
payments and others retired before disciplinary action could be taken. Peter Cooke was only 
with Red Sky a matter of months, but he was the only representative of the company who 
agreed to appear in this programme. He claims Red Sky’s overcharging was the fault of the 
Housing Executive.

PC: Red Sky was picked out as a scapegoat and vilified for following the system that they 
were told to follow.

MMA: He claims a memo was issued by the then Director of Housing, Colm McCally, which 
allowed officials more freedom to sign off payments to contractors.

[Male Voice]: The limit of £150 is now raised to £500.

MMA: It appears he too thinks there were high-ranking managers acting outside the 
knowledge and control of the Board of the Housing Executive.

PC: We were doing exactly what we were instructed to do and all the other contractors were 
the same and it’s now clear, in retrospect, that the senior members of the Housing Executive 
didn’t know that somebody high in their organisation had instructed everybody to operate in 
this way and it had been for everybody for at least four years.

MMA: That wasn’t meant to give companies a clear run at…

PC: Absolutely, it wasn’t.

MMA: …charging more than they should’ve.

PC: No, absolutely, it wasn’t and I’m not suggesting that that’s what it should be doing 
either. What I’m saying here is that a system was run by the Housing Executive, not by the 
contractors, so the abuse would only come from the Housing Executive side. It cannot come 
from the contractors’ side.

MMA: Brian Rowntree says he and the Housing Executive Board had no knowledge of any 
such system and he denies Peter Cooke told him about it.

Peter Cooke would say he did tell you in 2011…

BR: Well, let Peter Cooke produce the evidence.
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MMA: Brian Rowntree insists that Red Sky’s overcharging was so severe, it had to be 
stopped.

BR: Red Sky was in a league of their own and when you have an organisation that’s in a 
league of their own, then you must deal with that.

MMA: The Housing Executive gave Red Sky notice and prepared to pass their work on to rival 
contractors. The largest source of their income disappearing, Red Sky immediately went in 
to administration. As we have seen, Peter Robinson left the election trail to confront Brian 
Rowntree. He said the Housing Executive decision reflected sectarian bias and, despite 
being told about the evidence against Red Sky, he remained highly critical of the decision, 
questioning whether other contractors had been subjected to similar investigations. For Red 
Sky workers and their supporters, Brian Rowntree became a hate figure. Placards denouncing 
him were hung outside Red Sky’s gates.

Did you feel intimidated?

BR: Certainly, I did. Certainly, I did. Anyone would feel intimidated. It was a personalised 
campaign. Very, very fearful. I removed myself from my home for three days.

MMA: Why did you do that?

BR: For personal reasons.

MMA: Were you worried Loyalists would attack you?

BR: I was worried, on advice from others, and I removed myself from my home and I’ll say no 
more than that.

Peter Robinson: Mr Speaker, I select the Department of Social Development, and nominate 
Nelson McCausland to hold it.

Mr Speaker: Mr McCausland.

NMC: Yes, Mr Speaker, I am willing to take up the office of Minister for Social Development…

MMA: Just over two weeks after the DUP accused Brian Rowntree and the Housing Executive 
of sectarianism, Nelson McCausland became the Minister in charge of housing. At first the 
new Minister seemed to clearly support the Housing Executive, but that would soon change. 
Time was running out for Red Sky. Discredited and facing financial collapse, its directors tried 
to reinvent Red Sky as a new company in order to inherit their contracts with the Housing 
Executive. They prepared to set up a shadow company. Totalis Solutions is currently run out 
of the same premises as Red Sky and involves many of the same people. Norman Hayes, 
Red Sky’s owner, is described as one of the key management personnel. As they set about 
planning the new company, the directors asked Red Sky’s administrators to get them a 
meeting with the Housing Executive to buy the contracts. The Housing Executive agreed but 
said they needed to know who the potential buyers were.

And when you requested those details, were you given them?

BR: None of those details were provided. In point of fact, they refused to provide the 
information that we asked for.

MMA: And were alarm bells ringing at this stage?

BR: Absolutely, and that…why would someone approach a public body and not provide those 
details?

MMA: But the Red Sky directors weren’t finished.
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PC: I believed an injustice was happening and there is no other recourse in those 
circumstances but to appeal to the politicians, so we contacted all of the local politicians 
from all of the parties.

MMA: Two DUP MLAs offered the Red Sky directors and their team a meeting at Stormont 
with Peter Robinson and Nelson McCausland and some of his officials. We first learned that 
meeting took place because we obtained a leaked set of minutes of what was said.

There are very strict rules governing the awarding of public contracts and the treatment 
of companies once they go in to administration which may be why Nelson McCausland’s 
Department took five months to admit to us that the meeting took place and the First 
Minister’s Office still hasn’t responded to a Freedom of Information request to confirm Peter 
Robinson was there, although Peter Cooke has.

PC: We were invited to a meeting with First Minister. I don’t even think we knew that Minister 
McCausland was going to be there at the time.

MMA: Both Ministers are listed on the leaked minute of the meeting, as is the man who acts 
as Nelson McCausland’s Special Advisor, Stephen Brimstone. But two crucial parties to the 
whole Red Sky affair were missing: the Housing Executive and the administrators who, at that 
moment, were running Red Sky. According to the rules, companies in administration should 
always be represented by their administrators.

Jim Allister (JA): The two people absent from the meeting who might be thought to be the 
most pertinent are the Housing Executive themselves and the administrator. Now, what is 
going on here?

MMA: If you had known that the Housing Executive and the administrators were not going to 
be present, would you still have been happy to…

PC: Absolutely, we were looking to our politicians to try and put some pressure on the 
Housing Executive to reconsider their position.

JA: So, you have a company, for all intents and purposes, that’s in administration and yet 
seeking to negotiate with the Housing Minister how they might get back into play under the 
guise of a new company. It does seem a surprising way to be conducting business and does 
underscore, I would have thought, the very considerable affinity between Red Sky and the 
politicians.

MMA: A leading QC has told Spotlight that by attending this meeting without Red Sky’s 
administrators and by not reporting the discussions at the meeting to the Housing Executive, 
Nelson McCausland and First Minister Peter Robinson were in breach of the Ministerial Code 
which demands openness and the highest standards of propriety in the stewardship of public 
funds.

But what was the business that was going on? According to the minutes, compiled by Mr 
McCausland’s officials, Peter Cooke told the meeting that they were trying to establish a new 
company to acquire the entire Red Sky business. Nelson McCausland is reported as saying 
he wanted to ‘review all existing contracts to the same level of scrutiny as that applied to Red 
Sky’s’ and that he would like to have Red Sky’s administrator in place until the end of August 
to allow all issues relating to the handover of contracts to be considered. During this time, 
the proposed new company might also be able to progress matters. If that is an accurate 
account of what took place at the meeting, then Nelson McCausland was, again, in breach of 
the Ministerial Guidelines, according to the QC we consulted, because the Red Sky directors 
would be given an unfair advantage over other companies. It’s an interpretation of what 
happened at the meeting that is utterly rejected by Mr McCausland and for Red Sky Director, 
Peter Cooke, the reason for the meeting was to allow Red Sky to clear its name.
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PC: The purpose of that meeting was to try and find some way of delaying the termination 
while Red Sky was in administration so that it could prove that it had been treated unjustly 
and have an opportunity to emerge back out into the sunlight as a trading business.

MMA: What we do know for certain is that on the 1st of July, four days after the meeting, 
Nelson McCausland wrote to Brian Rowntree, telling him that he was launching an 
investigation that would include those contractors to whom it is proposed to reassign the Red 
Sky contract.

NMC: Issues are emerging and, as I’ve said, it’s not just one district or one contractor. 
That raises the question in my mind: is there something here that is endemic within the 
organisation?

MMA: In his letter of the 1st of July, Mr McCausland went on to say that providing certain 
conditions could be met, he wanted the termination date of Red Sky’s contract to be 
extended. “I would now ask you to put to the Housing Executive Board that the termination 
date of the Red Sky contract should be extended from the 14th of July 2011 to allow an 
open procurement competition for the Red Sky contracts”. But for Brian Rowntree, extending 
the contract was totally unacceptable. On that same day, he wrote to Nelson McCausland’s 
Permanent Secretary saying, if the former directors succeeded in buying the business from 
the administrators, the reinstatement of Red Sky, after they had just been terminated for 
serious malpractice, was likely to produce a public outcry.

BR: The major issue here was, setting aside the termination notice, and this late surge 
to have Red Sky reinstated. In point of fact, the Board was being asked to query its own 
judgement. The Board was being asked to potentially set aside the issues of irregularity that 
had already been confirmed on the media by one of the directors of Red Sky.

MMA: In a letter to this programme, Nelson McCausland said that whilst there has been a 
great deal of speculation and innuendo, that I sought to either extend the contract with the 
Red Sky group or, indeed, assign the contract to a new company, this was not the case.

At the very time Nelson McCausland and Brian Rowntree were exchanging salvos on the 1st 
of July, Jenny Palmer was attending a commemoration of the Battle of the Boyne.

JP: We were there enjoying the day and we were having a cup of tea after the ceremony and a 
colleague asked if I would take a phone call. The voice at the other end of the phone said we 
hadn’t met and possibly we should have, but there wasn’t the time now to do so and he said 
there would be a Board meeting on Tuesday. Now, I didn’t know at that time that it had been 
called even and then he told me that he needed me to, basically, go against the decision of 
the Board on the extension of the contract for Red Sky and I said to him “I ca…I don’t think I 
can do that”. He said “we need you to do that”. I went in to shock.

MMA: Who was the person who made the call?

JP: It was the Minister’s Political Advisor.

MMA: Nelson McCausland’s Political Advisor…and he gave his name as…?

JP: Stephen Brimstone. He said the party comes first. You do what you’re told, otherwise 
there’s no point in me…no point in me being on the Board if I wasn’t prepared to do what 
they asked me to do. It was going against everything that I had worked for and my reputation. 
He said “the party comes first here”.

RH: I find it very difficult to put in to words my reaction to this. This is obviously a very 
genuine lady and to see this lady in tears because she has been a woman of honour…what 
person feels that they have the right to say the party comes first? I am an Ulster Unionist. I 
have been an Ulster Unionist all my life, but you cannot put your party before people. What 
about the public? What about public money? What about the fact that there are questions to 
be answered in relation to the fact that hundreds of thousands of pounds of your money and 
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my money was given to people that didn’t do any work. I’m disgusted that woman was put in 
that position. I’m disgusted that I have to sit and look at a woman who has done her bit for 
her community. She seen herself working and she said that clearly in that…has been put in 
that position and has been brought to tears by a political party. Well, shame on them.

MMA: Why didn’t you go and seek help from your party leader?

JP: Because at that point, I didn’t know who I could trust.

MMA: You didn’t think you could trust the…

JP: I didn’t think I could speak to anyone who was at Stormont.

MMA: Jenny Palmer did confide in the Chairman of the Housing Council, the body she 
represents on the Housing Executive Board.

Jim Brown (JB): Jenny Palmer came to me, first of all with her integrity in tatters because 
she was being asked to do something she wasn’t prepared to do. She was being pressurised 
to do something political which she wasn’t in the Housing Executive Board to do. She was a 
representative of the Northern Ireland Housing Council and not a representative of the DUP.

JA: Mr Brimstone is saying to one of the DUP’s own Councillors, you must vote a certain 
way in the Housing Executive Board to extend the period for Red Sky and you must do it in 
the interests of the party, then it seems indisputable that, at some point, the interests of 
the party have become indistinguishable from the interests of Red Sky and that is the most 
frightening aspect and the most illuminating aspect of much of this.

MMA: The Housing Executive Board was called to an extraordinary meeting on Tuesday, July 
5th 2011, just as Stephen Brimstone had predicted. There was one item on the agenda, 
Nelson McCausland’s request to extend the Red Sky contracts. Jenny Palmer arrived early.

JP: I purposely went down early and I spoke to Brian about half an hour before the Board 
meeting and it was a private conversation he and I had.

BR: In my nine years as Chairman of the Housing Executive, I have never had a Board 
member, particularly a political Board member, so upset. An external source approached a 
political member to influence the decision and debate at Board level. That would have taken 
away and divided the Board in relation to its corporatcy and wouldn’t have given rise to a 
unanimous decision in relation to that matter.

MMA: Jenny Palmer declared an interest and Brian Rowntree ruled she should exclude 
herself from the meeting. In her absence, the Board, again, voted unanimously to uphold the 
sacking of Red Sky.

BR: The public need to know – why did someone seek to use political advantage, not for the 
benefit of the public sector, for the benefit of a commercial entity.

MMA: In his letter to Spotlight, Nelson McCausland insists he was simply trying to ensure an 
open procurement process for Red Sky’s work. But we do know that the DUP also regarded 
itself as fighting against sectarianism which may explain why a DUP stalwart who didn’t share 
that view, was placed under so much pressure by forces within her own party.

JP: It hurts me deeply that they were prepared to use the smallest cog in government to 
manipulate a certain scenario and, yeah, I’m angry, but, in my eyes, I’m stronger than they are 
because I didn’t do anything wrong. This morning, there was a message on my phone from my 
daughter, telling me to be honest and hold my integrity. Excuse me. And not to compromise 
my integrity for anyone and that meant…that message was so important that family…that 
they know the pressure that I have been under.
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MMA: We wrote to Stephen Brimstone twice to ask him about Jenny Palmer’s phone call. The 
first time, more than seven months ago. He didn’t reply, so we went to ask him in person why 
he put pressure on his DUP colleague.

It’s Mandy McAuley from the BBC. I’ve been trying to contact you. I’d like you to answer some 
of my questions. Mr Brimstone, why did you ring Jenny Palmer and tell her to change her vote 
in the Housing Executive Board? Mr Brimstone, did Nelson McCausland tell you to ring Jenny 
Palmer and change her vote on the Housing Executive Board? Mr Brimstone, we would just 
like you to answer our questions.

Stephen Brimstone: Good morning, how are you doing?

MMA: We would just like you to…why won’t you answer our questions?

It had been a bruising encounter for all concerned. Red Sky was left out in the cold though 
Brian Rowntree would subsequently step down early as Chairman of the Housing Executive. 
It took a year for the investigation that Nelson McCausland had commissioned to report back 
on the other contractors who were given Red Sky’s work. For some reason, the report sat on 
Nelson McCausland’s desk for another year, out of public sight and scrutiny. Until, as we now 
know, shortly after he received a letter from Spotlight, one of several we have sent posing 
questions about his meeting with Red Sky, Nelson McCausland rushed in to the Assembly to 
talk about the report and also to announce the findings of a separate investigation revealing 
the £18million overspend. The DUP declared the announcement as a victory over those who 
had criticised Red Sky.

Male Voice: (Robin Newton MLA) Would the Minister agree that those elected representatives 
who made representation on behalf of East Belfast company, Red Sky, and, indeed, who were 
pilloried in the press for doing so, have now been completed vindicated?

NMC: On the basis of the report, there is really no doubt that the issues with Housing 
Executive contracts were not unique to Red Sky. Indeed, it’s clear that there were a significant 
number of contractors that were engaged in the same or similar practices.

MMA: The charge here is very clear, that you singled out and you targeted Red Sky, a 
company from East Belfast, perceived to be Protestant, and that you did not target other 
companies. That is the charge.

BR: I refute that allegation. I simply stand on the evidence and that’s all I can do. I can do 
no more than stand on fact and the fact is that Red Sky were number one on the list of 
contractors where we had indicators of poor performance but, most importantly, high levels of 
overcharging. Not the actual value of overcharging, it’s the pattern and behavioural associated 
overcharging. In some cases, one in four orders having an overcharge allocated against it. 
They won’t believe it.

MMA: Brian Rowntree is also adamant that the £18million figure announced by Nelson 
McCausland is for a far more expensive kind of repair work from that dealt with by Red Sky. 
He admits the loss of that much money in what is known as planned maintenance contracts 
is another stain on the Housing Executive he led, but he says the checks and balances 
that he put in place didn’t stop with Red Sky. He says it was his Board and the Housing 
Executive’s Audit Committee that uncovered the latest losses.

BR: There were problems in the Housing Executive. There were also problems in their 
relationship with contractors. I’m on record as saying that, but I’m not going to sit and take 
blame for something that’s not my responsibility.

MMA: Some people would say it was your responsibility because it happened on your watch.

BR: Correct, and what did happen on my watch was that I uncovered the issues.

MMA: So you’re saying that you actually initiated the planned maintenance investigation.
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BR: Correct. There is nothing in the Minister’s statement that wasn’t done already by myself 
and the Board. I can’t take responsibility or credit for that final report, but I initiated it…but 
no credit, nor no association of credit was given to me in the Assembly and that’s why I’m 
saying the facts are that I practically gave my life to correct this situation, but now my life is 
being taken from me.

JP: The Minister made the announcement but actually the work was actioned by Brian 
Rowntree.

MMA: Do you think Nelson McCausland’s performance in the Assembly was about settling a 
personal score?

JP: I think that there was a personal vendetta and I don’t know who was orchestrating it 
except to say that certainly the Minister who made the statement was delivering it.

MMA: What is clear is that Nelson McCausland certainly does not believe that the 
information was uncovered thanks in any way to Brian Rowntree, although Mr McCausland 
has not repeated his accusations outside the Assembly Chamber. Alongside sectarianism, he 
suggested negligence or worse.

NMC: What has happened in the past must not happen in the future. As yet, it is not clear 
if this, which has taken place in the past, is a result of incredible incompetence or wilful 
corruption – time will tell.

MMA: Brian Rowntree has long suspected corruption within the Housing Executive. Spotlight 
has seen a dossier about Red Sky he sent to the PSNI and the Serious Fraud Office as part of 
a wider complaint in 2011. It said the Housing Executive suspected an organised campaign 
of fraud involving its own staff. At the time, he was told, there wasn’t enough evidence for the 
Police to proceed but, astonishingly, we have discovered that there was evidence in the form 
of a potential witness ready to talk. The witness alleged that senior personnel within Red Sky 
were involved in making cash payments to Housing Executive staff.

They make very serious allegations that senior personnel within Red Sky were involved in 
making cash payments to Housing Executive personnel. To this day, that person has never 
been questioned by Police.

BR: I’m absolutely shocked. I’m absolutely gobsmacked.

MMA: The witness was Pauline Gazzard…the Red Sky Executive who had asked for certain 
personalities to be moved from West Belfast. By the time Red Sky’s contract was terminated, 
she had left the company and was in the process of bringing a grievance against it. As Red 
Sky was folding, Pauline Gazzard wrote this 13-page letter to the company’s administrators, 
BDO. She said she had become extremely uneasy about the dealings between Red Sky and 
people in the Housing Executive.

Voice reading Pauline Gazzard: Quickly I became aware that cash payments were being made 
to three District Maintenance Managers of NIHE and one Maintenance Officer.

MMA: Pauline Gazzard said Norman Hayes authorised the payments. She said she 
confronted him but he denied the allegation. It should be pointed out that Pauline Gazzard 
has never reported her allegations to the Police. Also, she said she has suffered from stress, 
depression and paranoia but she insists that her allegations about Norman Hayes and the 
Housing Executive are true. We wrote to Norman Hayes. He did not respond.

Mr Hayes, it’s Mandy McAuley from the BBC. Mr Hayes, did you authorise cash payments to 
three Housing Executive Maintenance Officers? Mr Hayes, what were those payments for? 
Why won’t you answer our questions? Did you authorise cash payments to three Housing 
Executive Maintenance Officers? Why would the Manager at the heart of your operations have 
written to the administrators making such serious allegations? Was she making it up?
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Pauline Gazzard has told us Red Sky’s administrators, BDO, did not appear to take her 
allegations seriously.

A potential witness who said she had direct knowledge of corrupt payments to public officials 
and nothing was done.

Does it surprise you that she received a letter from the administrators saying that this was 
outside their remit because it had happened outside their time as administrators?

BR: I was the then Chairman of the Housing Executive. Why did the administrators not pass 
that information to me?

MMA: Red Sky’s administrators, BDO, told us they don’t publicly discuss client issues and so 
couldn’t answer our queries. The Police never spoke to Pauline Gazzard and we understand 
they didn’t know about her allegations to the administrators. We asked the Police if they 
had known, would it have made a difference and would they do anything about it now. They 
refused to comment.

BR: On the back of this evidence, I’m demanding…I’m demanding a Police inquiry in to this 
issue. I’m demanding the Serious Fraud Office take this on board and, most importantly, I’m 
demanding an external, independent inquiry in to the role and responsibility of people who 
had information in this process, both internal and external of NIHE.

MMA: Within days of the attack in the Assembly, Brian Rowntree says that the attempts to 
destroy him continued. Nelson McCausland’s Permanent Secretary, Will Haire, whom he had 
written to at the height of the dispute about Red Sky, rang him out of the blue.

How unusual is it for a Permanent Secretary to ring?

BR: It’s unusual. Most unusual.

MMA: Brian Rowntree says he was informed that a complaint is being sent to the Northern 
Ireland Office to get him removed from the Civil Service Commission. The complaint is on 
the basis of two emails which it’s claimed were copied to him three and a half years ago and 
which appear to link him to the alleged misuse of public funds on the Nationalist Rinmore 
Estate in Londonderry which is currently the subject of a Housing Executive audit. The 
accusation is that while publicly opposing this scheme, he was secretly working to push it 
through and promote a Nationalist agenda.

BR: I totally dismiss that out of hand. Well, those emails were never found in the Housing 
Executive system. There is no evidence anywhere because I’ve asked. I’ve had it checked by 
internal audit and the internal audit report confirms that. Those emails were never found on 
my system. They were never found on any Housing Executive system, but they’re found on 
hard paper copy in DSD records.

MMA: It remains to be seen if the Permanent Secretary’s action will result in Brian 
Rowntree’s removal from his current post. A DSD spokeswoman said Mr Haire was carrying 
out his duty to report actions he believes conflict with the Civil Service Code of Ethics. But 
Nelson McCausland’s close involvement in Housing Executive contracts didn’t end with Red 
Sky. For several months, Spotlight has been investigating a decision he made to alter a 
multi-million pound housing contract. In 2011, the Stormont Executive announced a massive 
project for social housing: a pledge to put double glazing in every Housing Executive home – 
up to 40,000 properties – by 2015.

NMC: There are companies out there that are looking for work in the construction industry. 
There are tenants who are waiting for double glazing. This is something where we cannot 
consider, and I will not allow any possibility of failure.

MMA: But six months in, Nelson McCausland suddenly told the Housing Executive to put the 
project on hold.
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NMC: Following discussions with those in the glass and glazing industry, I now have 
considerable concern around the value for money of the Housing Executive’s current 
specification to contractors for window installation.

MMA: Nelson McCausland said changing the specifications around the windows contract 
would save money. In a letter to Spotlight, he says that what he described as the not 
insignificant sum of £15million has been saved, but those window companies that had tooled 
up to meet the previous specifications were forced to cut back. This glazing consultant has 
seen the effects for himself.

Willie Montgomery (WM): Well, local manufacturers are looking at lay-offs simply because, 
since this kicked off, there’s been no contracts let. There’s been a hold put on everything. I 
would visit most of the companies that supply the Housing Executive and I have seen lay-offs, 
I’ve seen order books greatly reduced and they’re all sitting at the minute and if they have a 
few weeks’ work ahead of them, that’s about it. So there is, there’s major implications there 
for company closures, at worst, and lay-offs.

MMA: What those companies didn’t know what(was) that Nelson McCausland made the 
decision shortly after meeting with executives from one of their rivals, Turkington Holdings. 
Turkington Holdings is owned by Trevor Turkington. One part of his business is Turkington 
Windows which is in the installation business. Trevor Turkington has also publicly supported 
the DUP. In the 2011 Assembly election, he nominated Upper Bann MLA, Stephen Moutray.

Daithí McKay (DM): The owner of the company concerned is quite clearly a supporter of the 
Democratic Unionist Party, therefore, it’s all the more important that whenever a member 
of that Party meets with Turkingtons, that that is transparent…it’s made transparent to the 
Assembly.

MMA: But unfortunately, Mr McCausland has not succeeded in making this entirely clear 
to everyone. The Assembly’s Social Development Committee, which oversees Nelson 
McCausland’s Department, asked him on whose advice he’d decided to suspend the double 
glazing programme. The Minister wrote back saying his decision followed a meeting he had 
held with both the Glass and Glazing Federation, a trade industry body, and Fusion21, a social 
enterprise body based on Merseyside. We spoke to the Glass and Glazing Federation but they 
weren’t aware of an official Federation meeting with the Minister. Spotlight has obtained a 
draft version of the letter sent by Nelson McCausland to the Social Development Committee. 
The draft, prepared for the Minister by a senior civil servant who was present, describes 
the meeting as having taken place with Turkingtons, but the letter that was sent by Nelson 
McCausland doesn’t mention Turkingtons. Instead, as we know, he says the meeting took 
place with the Glass and Glazing Federation and Fusion21.

DM: I think it’s quite obvious that the Minister is misleading the Assembly Committee so 
the question has to be asked, why that is and is it something to do with the fact that he 
suspended the double glazing scheme shortly after he held this meeting.

MMA: In a letter to Spotlight, Mr McCausland says that while staff from Turkington Holdings 
were at that meeting, “it is my understanding that they were not representing the interests 
of that firm, but rather representing the Glass and Glazing Federation, therefore, it is entirely 
right that the reference was corrected before issue of the letter”. He also points out that the 
official minute is entitled “Meeting with Representatives of the Glass and Glazing Federation”, 
but we have spoken to one of the Turkington executives who attended the meeting with 
Mr McCausland to discuss the double glazing programme. Ian Young, no longer with the 
firm, said Nelson McCausland was told Turkingtons are members of the Glass and Glazing 
Federation but says they did not tell him they were there on the Federation’s behalf. He says 
he doesn’t know why Mr McCausland subsequently portrayed their discussions as a Glass 
and Glazing Federation meeting.



1163

BBC NI Correspondence and Programme Transcripts

Michael Copeland (MC): You’ve two people saying two entirely different things and I think 
the Department…or the Social Development Committee would be very anxious to clarify 
what the truth is. There’s a smell about this and if that proves to be justified, I fear Minister 
McCausland will be faced with a series of questions and answering them could be extremely 
embarrassing.

MMA: Mr McCausland has also told MLAs in the Assembly that he met the Glass and Glazing 
Federation.

NMC: The Glass and Glazing Federation, I think, is a useful point of reference and that’s why I 
met with them.

MMA: It is possible Mr McCausland thought that the men from Turkingtons were there 
as representatives of the Federation, but the Housing Executive has told us that their two 
officials who attended the meeting were not aware that the men from Turkingtons were 
representing the Glass and Glazing Federation. What is even harder to understand is why 
Nelson McCausland changed the draft letter to say that he also met Fusion21, the social 
enterprise body from Merseyside with whom, he said, he had also discussed double glazing 
specifications. We spoke to Fusion21 who said they met Mr McCausland but did not advise 
him on double glazing.

DM: That is extremely serious because the Minister has misled the Assembly Committee. He 
has misled members of the Assembly and the Minister has to be held account for the fact 
that he has done this, but aside from that, aside from what goes on in the Assembly, this 
has put people’s jobs at risk. There are many companies in this area where staff have had to 
be cut back, people have had to be put on notice because of the fact this scheme has been 
suspended, so the Minister needs to answer to those people as much as he has to answer to 
members of the Assembly.

MMA: Where the story of Nelson McCausland, Red Sky and the Housing Executive will end 
is hard to predict. Not only are careers at stake, but it’s clear that the future of the Housing 
Executive itself is in jeopardy and alongside all this, a lot of lives have been damaged. 
Shortly after our first interview with Jenny Palmer, we received a solicitor’s letter, saying she 
was unsure which of her remarks were on or off the record. We understand the solicitor had 
been provided for Jenny Palmer by the DUP. Against the wishes of her party, Jenny Palmer 
subsequently wrote to us herself to say she was happy to stand over all her remarks and then 
gave us a second television interview.

JP: Someone said it before to me that they were using me as a lamb to the slaughter. That I 
was worthless. In their eyes, I was expendable. Had I done it, I would’ve been.

MMA: What has clearly emerged through this process is that for long periods of time on 
Brian Rowntree’s watch, senior managers within the Housing Executive were out of control. He 
remains convinced it was his efforts to clean things up that has led to him being attacked.

BR: Instead of being the good guy, you become the enemy and it’s easy to isolate the enemy 
‘cause you just make them a bitter and twisted person. I’m glad I’m sitting here tonight. I’m 
not bitter. I’m not twisted. I never set out to make this anything other than a campaign of 
putting right where wrong had been done. Wrong was done to me as a consequence of me 
doing right.

MMA: In the making of this programme, Spotlight wrote to the former Director of Housing, 
Colm McCally. In an email tonight, he threatened legal action if we broadcast anything which 
attacked his integrity or suggested he acted at any time other than in the best interests of 
the Housing Executive. We also wrote to former Chief Executive, Paddy McIntyre, who told 
us he didn’t intend to comment. He then wrote to us tonight saying that the report which 
described his role in altering criticism of Red Sky’s performance as disturbing had no standing 
within the Housing Executive. He denied any attempt to sanitise the content of that report 
and said the changes were accepted by the Head of the unit concerned. We have written to 
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Peter Robinson on several occasions, putting the charges contained in this programme and 
offering him the opportunity to reply. On Tuesday of last week, we received an email from Mr 
Robinson saying that he had no intention of being interviewed by Spotlight following, what 
he described, as our ‘blatantly inaccurate and defamatory comments’ about him in the past 
and that he had instructed his solicitor that if we broadcast the criticisms of him we have 
made in this programme tonight, his lawyer was to start proceedings against us without 
further instructions. But it’s Nelson McCausland and his Special Advisor, Stephen Brimstone, 
against whom the most serious questions remain. Mr Brimstone has sent us a solicitor’s 
letter in which he does not accept the accuracy of our reporting of his telephone conversation 
with Jenny Palmer and said he does not accept that he put pressure on her to change her 
vote. But it’s Stephen Brimstone’s boss, Nelson McCausland, who, ultimately, must take 
responsibility for both the behaviour of his Special Advisor and his own conduct.

ENDS
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BBC - The View Transcript - 4 July 2013

Programme:	 The View – Nelson McCausland

Date & Time:	 4.7.13 – 22.39

Subject:	 NIHE Contracts

Prepared By:	 Typist: Debbie Arthurs/Donna Morris

MMU:	 PC/GI

Mark Carruthers: A huge fishing expedition with not much of a catch at the end of it, or 
potentially the most serious political scandal since the Assembly came into operation in 
1998. Contrasting views from two MLAs, the first from the Social Development Minister, 
Nelson McCausland, the second from the chair of his departmental committee, Alex Maskey. 
Both were prompted by last night’s BBC Northern Ireland Spotlight investigation which alleged 
political interference in the running of the Housing Executive. Those claims have been 
strongly denied by Mr McCausland.

There’s a lot we want to get through on the programme tonight, can we deal first of all with 
the phone call Jenny Palmer, who is a DUP councillor in Lisburn, received from your special 
adviser Stephen Brimstone. She says she was told by Mr Brimstone to vote against the 
Housing Executive Board’s position terminating the Red Sky contract for the good of the party. 
How do you respond to that allegation?

Nelson McCausland: The programme last night presented the conversation between my 
special adviser and the councillor in a particular way, I want to make it very clear that it was 
a single telephone conversation and it was a fairly short telephone conversation, it lasted 
a matter of minutes. The position as I understand it is that the telephone call was really 
to explain to Councillor Palmer that there was a wider context here in terms of different 
contractors…

Mark Carruthers: What was that contract…

Nelson McCausland: I’m about to explain that, the focus has been very much, even in the 
programme last night, the focus was virtually entirely on one company, what I was clear about 
and I have since been fully vindicated on this by an independent consultancy report, was 
that it wasn’t restricted to one company, when you looked at all of the contractors that we 
investigated subsequently it became clear this was a much more widespread problem and he 
was simply conveying that information to Mrs Palmer.

Mark Carruthers: So we will go on to talk about that particular issue, that company and 
other companies in a moment or two, but she says, Jenny Palmer says Mr Brimstone clearly 
attempted to bring political influence to bear on her. Do you accept she was put under 
pressure by Mr Brimstone?

Nelson McCausland: Well his account of the conversation is very different from her 
recollection of it and there the matter rests, two people who have a conversation and they 
have different recollections of it.

Mark Carruthers: Okay, did Mr Brimstone make that phone call at your behest?

Nelson McCausland: No.

Mark Carruthers: Did you know he was going to make that phone call?

Nelson McCausland: No.

Mark Carruthers: Should you not have known he was going to make that phone call?

Nelson McCausland: That is a bizarre and ludicrous question.
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Mark Carruthers: Why?

Nelson McCausland: Well if you give me a chance to answer I would actually explain that 
to you. It’s a bizarre and ludicrous question because am I expected to check every single 
telephone call that a member of staff makes, certainly not.

Mark Carruthers: He’s your special adviser.

Nelson McCausland: If you just let me finish, the point is that it was two recollections of a 
telephone conversation, they don’t accord with each other and I’m not sure we’ll ever get to 
the bottom of it.

Mark Carruthers: Are you not concerned that Jenny Palmer’s recollection of the conversation 
might be more accurate than Mr Brimstone’s and if that is the case there’s a problem?

Nelson McCausland: Well are you suggesting that he’s lying?

Mark Carruthers: Are you suggesting that Mrs Palmer is lying?

Nelson McCausland: I’m not suggesting anything, I’m simply saying that there are two 
recollections of a conversation and they happen to differ.

Mark Carruthers: Yes but should we not be trying to get to the bottom of that?

Nelson McCausland: I think it is one of those situations in life that you’ll never really get to 
the bottom of.

Mark Carruthers: Would it have been a mistake on the part of Mr Brimstone to try to 
influence Jenny Palmer in her vote on the Housing Executive Board the following week?

Nelson McCausland: It would have been absolutely ludicrous and pointless to do so if you 
bear in mind that there are, I think, 14 members on the Board and even if one person did 
vote in a particular way there are 13 others, so it would be a pointless futile exercise and one 
that he would not have entered into.

Mark Carruthers: Have you spoken to him about it?

Nelson McCausland: I have indeed.

Mark Carruthers: And he has, what did he say that he said to Mrs Palmer, what precisely did 
he say to her. You said it was a short conversation, give me a quick presse of what he says 
he said?

Nelson McCausland: I think it’s worth remembering the conversation was quite some time 
ago…

Mark Carruthers: Well she’s got a very clear recollection of it.

Nelson McCausland: Indeed, a very clear recollection of it but it is a recollection and he has 
a recollection too.

Mark Carruthers: And what is that?

Nelson McCausland: And the recollection is, as I’ve already explained to you once, I’m happy 
to explain again, he set out the wider context that there are issues around contracts, not just 
in relation to Red Sky, but in relation to six other companies at least that we’ve looked at.

Mark Carruthers: Why do you think she was so upset, if it was simply about setting the wider 
context, why was she crying on Spotlight last night?

Nelson McCausland: I can’t explain someone’s behaviour or be held accountable for that, I 
understand that the actual interview with her was quite a lengthy interview, in fact a very long 
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interview, in fact there were two interviews with her and very short extracts were taken from 
that for the programme. But I can’t explain her behaviour, that’s a matter for her to explain.

Mark Carruthers: Have you spoken to Mrs Palmer about it?

Nelson McCausland: No I haven’t.

Mark Carruthers: Do you not think you should?

Nelson McCausland: No.

Mark Carruthers: As a fellow member of the DUP?

Nelson McCausland: Why should I particularly?

Mark Carruthers: Well because she’s making an allegation about a conversation that your 
special adviser had with her which she’s clearly very upset about and which is part of a major 
issue now politically in Northern Ireland, that’s why?

Nelson McCausland: Let me cut to the point here, Mark, we’re dealing here with the Housing 
Executive, with scandals where in one case the chairman of the Housing Executive reports 
over payments to contractors of £18million. We’re dealing with scandals that were mentioned 
even on the programme last night in regard to response maintenance contracts, issues 
regarding allegations of fraud and so on and there seems to be a fixation…

Mark Carruthers: We’re going to be moving on to that…

Nelson McCausland: …but it’s important that we set it in context and the context is why is 
there this fixation on one small conversation…

Mark Carruthers: We will come on to that.

Nelson McCausland: ….when we are dealing with a scale of money here in tens of millions of 
pounds.

Mark Carruthers: Why do you think Jenny Palmer, as a DUP councillor, would not report a 
conversation with a special adviser of a DUP minister accurately?

Nelson McCausland: I can’t be held accountable for what somebody says.

Mark Carruthers: Does it not bother you that her version of events is so different from his?

Nelson McCausland: I’ll tell you what does bother me, what bothers me is that there seems 
to be a very partial approach to all of these issues within the BBC. Let’s bear in mind here is 
a major issue, a major issue of public concern and the fixation of the BBC in producing the 
programme and subsequently today, I listened to the interview earlier on between Seamus 
McKee and Gregory Campbell where Seamus McKee was quite frankly rude and overbearing 
towards Gregory Campbell, he would hardly let him speak…

Mark Carruthers: It’s not really relevant to this discussion is it?

Nelson McCausland: No it is, I think it is because it helps to set a picture of people in the 
BBC who are trying to defend the indefensible.

Mark Carruthers: Allegations made by a DUP councillor, this is a person who is a member, 
with respect Nelson McCausland, of your party?

Nelson McCausland: And the fact is that when I am dealing with issues on the scale that I’m 
dealing with, we have a stock of 90,000 homes…

Mark Carruthers: Jenny Palmer doesn’t matter?
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Nelson McCausland: Sorry, if you’d actually let me finish, if you’d let me speak and make a 
point without interrupting. There are 90,000 properties owned by the Housing Executive, the 
standard of service that has been delivered to many of the tenants in those homes has not 
been good enough. The value for money that should be the hallmark of a public body has not 
been clearly evident and when I’m dealing with those issues I’m not going to be side tracked 
by some issue about what somebody said to who and they’ll never know what (unclear).

Mark Carruthers: It really doesn’t matter we shouldn’t be talking about it, is that what you’re 
saying, doesn’t matter at all?

Nelson McCausland: I think in the scheme of things it shows quite clearly the lack of 
perspective within the BBC.

Mark Carruthers: Okay, is your party going to take any action against Jenny Palmer for the 
allegations that she’s made against Mr Brimstone?

Nelson McCausland: Once again you have this fixation, the 15 minutes will be up before 
we ever get to the core of the matter. The fact is that that’s a matter for the party, I have no 
knowledge of that at all.

Mark Carruthers: Let’s move on to Red Sky which is one of the companies…

Nelson McCausland: I hope we’ll also move on to the other six contractors and then the four 
contractors….

Mark Carruthers: Let’s talk about Red Sky, you said you always acted, you said today when 
you spoke to the DSD Committee you always acted with the highest level of integrity, why 
then did you attend a meeting with Red Sky representatives in June 2011 at which no 
representatives of either the administrators, who were running Red Sky at that point, or the 
Housing Executive were present?

Nelson McCausland: Well one of the things I said at the very start of the meeting with the 
Social Development Committee today was that I had three priorities in dealing with this sort 
of issue. One was to ensure that there’s value for money, secondly, that we ensure a good 
quality service for tenants and, thirdly, that in everything I do I will do it with integrity and 
probity and I have sought at all times to do that…

Mark Carruthers: So why did you attend that meeting without representatives of either the 
administrators of the Housing Executive present?

Nelson McCausland: My hearing is perfectly good, you don’t need to repeat the question.

Mark Carruthers: Well then answer the question.

Nelson McCausland: Well I will when you give me a chance to do so without interrupting. The 
decision is very simple, the meeting with the folk from Red Sky took place two years ago on 
the 27th June 2011…

Mark Carruthers: Yes that’s correct.

Nelson McCausland: …now that particular meeting, first of all I was approached by a number 
of elected representatives from across East Belfast and from different parties in regard to 
Red Sky, I have correspondence from Naomi Long in the Alliance Party. I had representation 
from other parties and I had representation from the DUP…

Mark Carruthers: ..only members of the DUP were there politically?

Nelson McCausland: Well if they are particularly active in representing the interests of their 
constituents are they to be condemned for that?
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Mark Carruthers: You’ve talked about other politicians, I’m making the point that the only 
politicians who were present were members of the DUP, the question I asked you and would 
like you to answer it is why there were no representatives of the administrators who were 
running Red Sky or the Housing Executive at that meeting?

Nelson McCausland: If I am asked to have a meeting with elected representatives from East 
Belfast and they bring folk along with them to the meeting then I will hold the meeting.

Mark Carruthers: Okay, even if that might have been in breach of the Ministerial Code?

Nelson McCausland: I actually have taken legal advice on that and the legal advice I have 
received is that there was nothing improper at all.

Mark Carruthers: When did you take that legal advice, before the meeting or after the 
meeting?

Nelson McCausland: It was taken around the time of the meeting…

Mark Carruthers: Well was it before the meeting or after the meeting?

Nelson McCausland: My understanding is that the advice was taken, my recollection is, 
bearing in mind this was two years ago, I understand that we had advice before the meeting 
and it was also checked out afterwards.

Mark Carruthers: Why did you take the advice before the meeting if there was no problem 
with it? You must have asked for advice because you might have been concerned that you 
might have been in breach of some sort of…..

Nelson McCausland: On the one hand you are asking me and expecting that I would take 
advice and then when I take advice that is a problem. The meeting took place, we dealt with 
issues and I was very clear on this, I wanted to be sure at that time that in addressing the 
issues of Red Sky and I am not in the business of defending Red Sky, never have been, I 
acknowledge very clearly that there were issues about Red Sky but I also acknowledge and I 
was subsequently vindicated that when you look at all of the other contractors at the same 
time and we examined through an independent report, six other contractors.

Mark Carruthers: But the evidence, the clear evidence from the independent forensic audit 
that was done and that was given to the Housing Executive indicated that there may indeed 
have been problems with other companies but there was no….

Nelson McCausland: No sorry, you are totally wrong in that, please don’t misrepresent the 
facts.

Mark Carruthers: There was clear evidence in the ASM1 report, as it is known, that Red Sky 
had been acting inappropriately.

Nelson McCausland: And you said that there was no evidence about others. The fact is the 
report that was commissioned by the Housing Executive didn’t consider any of the others, it 
didn’t say they were clean, it didn’t say they were in fault, it didn’t say anything. I must correct 
you there. The point is that the initial report commissioned by the Housing Executive, and 
they brought in ASM and they did a forensic audit, identified issues with Red Sky. My question 
at that point was, to the chairman of the Housing Executive, have you looked at the other 
companies? And the answer was that I got back from him, that they had in place, he said 
there are robust systems in place and we can stand over other companies. The proof was 
that that was not true, I was misled.

Mark Carruthers: It may or may not be the case, here is my question. The ASM report was 
very clear that there was wrongdoing on the part of Red Sky why did you not do something 
about that, why did you continue to defend contracts being given to that company when you 
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knew the evidence was there that the company had acted inappropriately? Isn’t that the 
point?

Nelson McCausland: If you would only listen to what I have said. I said very clearly I am not 
in the business of defending, you said I am defending, I am not defending anybody. If there 
was wrongdoing by company A, B or C, I will deal with that and the point I am making clearly is 
that the report that was commissioned by the Housing Executive picked out one company but 
did not look at the others and the problem..

Mark Carruthers: Forgive me for saying, slightly repeating yourself.

Nelson McCausland: No I am just simply having to correct you, the point is that we were in 
the process potentially of taking a contract away from a company where there was clearly 
something wrong, to give it to another company where potentially there was something wrong, 
because it was already clear at that point…..

Mark Carruthers: On the 27 June you asked for the contract of Red Sky to be extended, 
why did you do it? You said you weren’t defending Red Sky but you asked for the contract to 
continue with that company for a further period of time, why did you do that?

Nelson McCausland: You just made another statement that is totally wrong…

Mark Carruthers: That is correct; I have the minutes in front of me, you did.

Nelson McCausland: You made a statement that is totally wrong, and I hope you will retract 
it. I was already in possession of some evidence that there was fault with other companies 
because there was a second company that had emerged…

Mark Carruthers: Would you talk about Red Sky, would you mind if we talked about Red Sky 
because that is what I want to ask you about, the minutes in front of me, the Minister advised 
that he would like to have the administrator in place until the end of August to allow all issues 
relating to the handover of contracts to be considered. You then went on to say during this 
time the proposed new company might also be able to make progress on matters and here is 
the point, here is the reason that I am asking that question, because Red Sky representatives 
were talking about acquiring the company’s contracts for a new company, that is what the 
minutes record and that, according to the QC who was consulted by the Spotlight team, is in 
breach of the Ministerial Code.

Nelson McCausland: First of all when we were dealing with Red Sky I was already in 
possession of evidence that another of the companies to which the contracts might well 
transfer was a company where there were similar difficulties. I was suspicious because it is 
clear to me that if you looked across the whole realm of contracts you had more than one 
company where there were irregularities, those irregularities weren’t just occurring in more 
than one company, they were occurring in more than one Housing Executive district and 
therefore you come to the conclusion, how widespread is this? But the Housing Executive 
had failed to carry out a proper investigation which I commissioned. That report, which you 
obviously aren’t particularly interested in, the ASM2, clearly indicated that when you looked at 
six other companies similar issues appeared there as well.

Mark Carruthers: I already dealt with that, I know all about the ASM2 report as well. Can 
I go back to the first question I asked you about Red Sky which was why were you at that 
meeting and why were there not representatives of the administrators there because the 
administrators or the individuals who were running Red Sky at that time, so you couldn’t 
actually, with any authority whatsoever, talk to employees of Red Sky, they were not running 
the company at that time and they were in conversation at that meeting and I have got the 
minutes in front of me, very clearly talking about a new company acquiring the Red Sky 
contracts, why were you taking part in that meeting?

Nelson McCausland: Once again you have got it wrong, because….
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Mark Carruthers: I haven’t got it wrong, I have got the minutes in front of me.

Nelson McCausland: I am much more informed about this than you are…

Mark Carruthers: Really? Because you haven’t explained anything.

Nelson McCausland: You can either ask questions or you can try that sort of bullying 
approach in order…

Mark Carruthers: Can you just answer the question, why were the administrators not at the 
meeting?

Nelson McCausland: I will answer questions when I get a chance to, without being constantly 
and rudely interrupted.

Mark Carruthers: Why were the administrators not at the meeting?

Nelson McCausland: I am trying to correct a point, because once again….

Mark Carruthers: Could you just answer that question because I think our viewers would like 
to know?

Nelson McCausland: And I think that I should have the opportunity to correct all the errors 
that you are introducing…

Mark Carruthers: So that is not right, the administrators were at the meeting were they?

Nelson McCausland: You made a statement a moment ago and the statement was very 
simple, the statement was, if you would actually listen instead of grimacing at people you 
might have a better sense of what is going on, but it is rather typical of the way that this 
whole issue has been handled by the BBC.

Mark Carruthers: You still haven’t answered the question, I am sorry, I have given you ample 
opportunity, you keep talking about other issues, would you please answer the question as to 
why the administrators weren’t at the meeting?

Nelson McCausland: I will deal with the issue quite simply. The ASM2 report investigated six 
different companies and it was clear that similar issues occurred, you said you know all about 
that, it was quite noticeable last night in the Spotlight programme that that particular report 
was almost sidelined and almost totally ignored.

Mark Carruthers: You are clearly not going to answer that question and I have given 
you ample opportunity but you are not going to answer it….I wanted to talk to you about 
Turkingtons as well and I am not going to get an opportunity to do that, so what I am going to 
ask you finally….

Nelson McCausland: I will come back to the point about Red Sky very simply, it is this, in 
all my correspondence with the chairman of the Housing Executive and it is on record, what 
I was keen to secure was that we keep the administrator there in place until we get to the 
point where there could be an open tender, could they keep the contract going delivering a 
service to tenants until we get tot hat point where there would be an open tender, because 
otherwise….

Mark Carruthers: And there was nothing open about the process where individuals who work 
for Red Sky were sitting in a meeting with the Minister and others getting an unfair advantage, 
that is the allegation over other companies in the way that they might be able to access the 
contract.

Nelson McCausland: That is an allegation that I totally reject.
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Mark Carruthers: You refute that allegation? Okay well that is fine and you are perfectly 
entitled to refute it, that is not how other people see it, I can’t talk to you about Turkington’s 
because we have run out of time but what I do want to ask you is this and it is an issue that 
was raised today and it is a simple one, would it not be wise for you to stand aside as DSD 
Minister while the Assembly discusses the issue on Monday and while the Statutory Inquiry 
by the DSD committee investigates the whole issue?

Nelson McCausland: I haven’t had that suggestion put to me by anybody. I spent two and a 
half hours with the committee this morning, not one member of the committee suggested 
that and it would be a ludicrous suggestion anyway.

Mark Carruthers: Well I have heard it mentioned by other people, they might not be members 
of the committee but other politicians have been on the airwaves suggesting that that is the 
case….

Nelson McCausland: Well I haven’t heard that, nobody has put it to me…

Mark Carruthers: Well let me ask you about it now, I am suggesting it, I have heard it, would 
it not make sense for you to step aside and allow the inquiry to happened without you being 
in post as Minister?

Nelson McCausland: It is an absolutely bizarre suggestion.

Mark Carruthers: Why is it a bizarre suggestion? That is precisely what the First Minister did 
whenever he was being investigated, the investigation took place and then he reassumed his 
position as First Minister.

Nelson McCausland: I have no intention of stepping aside from doing the job that I am doing 
which is about delivering a good outcome for tenants in the Housing Executive. For too long 
the Executive has condemned people to living in some cases, 9,000 tenants in cold, damp 
houses…..

Mark Carruthers: So you are quite happy that you will be vindicated on Monday and 
vindicated in the DSD inquiry?

Nelson McCausland: I have been vindicated time and time again, the ASM2 report that 
you skimmed over so lightly fully vindicated the stand that I have taken, the PAC report fully 
vindicated the stand that I have taken and time after time report has shown I have been right, 
Housing Executive got it wrong.

Mark Carruthers: And when the deputy First Minister says today that this is a situation which 
threatens potentially the institutions at Stormont, what, he is over egging the pudding, he has 
got it hopelessly wrong?

Nelson McCausland: Clearly, yes.
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